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Headquartered in Radnor, PA, Penn Virginia Resource Partners, L.P. (NYSE: PVR) is a

publicly traded limited partnership (PTP) formed by Penn Virginia Corporation (NYSE: PVA).
PVR manages coal and natural resource propertics and related assets and operates a midstream
natural gas gathering and processing business. For more information, pleasc visit PVR's website at

Wwiv.pvresource.coni.

Financial Highlights

In miltions except per share data 2000

FINANCIAL DATA

Net revenues? $ 55.6
Operaring income 26.6
Ner income 27
Cash flow from operations 41.1
Distriburable cash flow?® 39.3
Total assers 259.9
Leng-term debr, excluding current portion 90.3
Partners’ capital 153.8

Long-term debz as percent of roral capitalizacion 37%

PER LIMITED PARTNER UNIT DATA'™
Ner income™
Cash distributions Jdeclared®

Weighted average number of
limited parner units outstanding

OPERATING DATA

Coal produced by lessees (millions of tons)

Coal royalties {$/ton)

Estimared coal reserves {millions of recoverable tons}

Narural gas system volumes

2007, 2006 and 2005 amounes are shown ner of cost of gas purchused of $343 million, $333 wiilion and $304 million, respecrively:

2 Diseriburable cash How is caleulared as follows:

2006 2004 2003
Opeeating income ) 1028 5405 5266
Deprectation, deplenion and amortizacion +LS 37.5 186 16.6
Devivative lasses {gains) inchuded in operations . 1.9 —_
Cash paid for derivative sertlements 7. {19.4) . —
Interest expense, net 5 (17.6)
Mainrenance capizal expenditures .8 {9.5)

Okzher 4.5
Distriburable cash How 51208 5100.2
* Per unit dara refleces 2-For - Lanit splic in April 2006.

* Per unit amount is compured after generat parmer’s share.
* Annualized as of last distribution paid in year,




PVR’s Coal and Natural Resource N

1. Cenrral Appalachia - Coal reserves and infrastructure, timber, oil and gas royalties

2. Illinois Basin - Coat reserves and infrastructure

3. Northern Appalachia - Coal reserves

4. San Juan Basin - Coal reserves

COAL AND NATURAL
RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

PVR Coal and Natural Resource
Management manages coal and
natural resoutce properties, provides
fee-based coal preparation and
loading services, sells timber, collects
oil and gas royalties, and collects

wheelage fees from the transportation

of coal. PVR continues to add coal
reserves in multiple basins, expand
its coal services and infrastructure
business as well as to acquire other
PTP-friendly natural resource assets,
such as timber and natural

gas royalties.
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5. Beaver / Spearman - Gas processing plants and gathering systems

6. Crossroads - Gas processing plant and pipelines

7. Crescent - Gas processing plant and gathering system

8. Hamlin - Gas processing plant and gathering system

9. Arkoma - Gas gathering systems

NATURAL GAS
MIDSTREAM

PVR Midstream provides gas
processing, gathering and other
related natural gas services ar four
primary locations in Texas and
QOklahoma, with a fifth system to

be on line by the second quarter of
2008 in east Texas. PVR continues
to identify and acquire additional
gathering, processing and relared
assets, expand existing systems via
new-well connections and processing
plants, and develop ways to increase
its service leve! to Penn Virginia
Corporation’s oil and gas exploration
and production business.

FINANCIAL
DISCIPLINE

PVR continues to increase

distributions at a rate compentive

with other PTPs, after reviewing
the reinvestment needed to
sustain long-term growth. PVR

has historically funded its growth

through a combination of debt
and new unit issuances, PVR

secks growth opportunities that
provide increases in sustainable

distributable cash flow at attractive

rates of return for unitholders,
together with stable cash flows
and the potential for additional
organic growth,
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Dear Fellow Unitholders

Penn Virginia Resource Partners, L.P. (PVR) had another record year in 2007, setting new highs for

revenues, operating income and distributable cash flow. We also enjoyed record-setting natural gas

midstream system throughput volumes and gross processing margins, while coal production by our
lessees was essentially flat from record 2006 levels. We increased distributions to unitholders three
times during 2007, with total distributions up eight percent over 2006.

In our Coal and Natural Resource
Management {NRM) segment, coal
reserves increased to 818 million tons
as of year-end 2007 from 765 million
tons at year-end 2006, We replaced
263 percent of the 32.5 million tons
of reserves produced by lessees during
2007, primarily through two acquisitions of approzimately
60 million tons in the Wlinois Basin. As a result of recent
acquisitions, approximately 21 percent of our reserve base

is in the lllinois Basin. Our belief is this basin’s proximity
to power plants and expected future regulations requiring
scrubbing of most coals will increase the competitiveness
of the Illinois Basin coals. Approximarely 70 percent of
our reserve base is high quality coal reserves in Cencral
Appalachia and we continue to pursue acquisitions

in this region,

Coal prices increased throughout 2007, especially during
the fourth quarter, as increased foreign demand, overseas
supply issues and a weaker U.S, dollar fueled growth in
exports. Domestic demand was also strong during 2007, as
power consumption grew and the costs of competing fuels
remained high. Natural gas prices stayed high relative to
coal during the year, despite high gas storage inventories,
largely as the result of record oil prices and increased
demand. As a result, coal remains the fuel of choice for
domestic electricity generation.

NET REVENUES OPERATING
in millions INCOME
-cﬂumm In mililons
# Coal & NRM
$206.2 ® Midstream 111.7

4183.3
*142.4 I

*102.8
8. I
08 06 07

During the second half of 2007, we completed approximately
$124 million in acquisitions of Appalachian forestdand

($93 million} and oil and gas royalties ($31 million). These
acquisitions significantly expanded existing business lines and
provided a larger, more diversified cash flow stream within the
segment. We have experience managing these natural resource
business lines and believe that these types of assets are
extremely “friendly” 1o publicly traded partnerships (PTPs)
given their very long-lived, low-risk cash flow streams and

the absence of a need for maintenance capital.

PVR Midstream was the primary contributor to our record
setting financial performance in 2007. System throughput
volumes increased nine percent and the gross processing
margin increased 32 percent, The growth in system
throughput volumes was auributable to “organic” growth
in natural gas production from existing fields we service,
and the processing margin increase also benefited largely
from record fractionation or “frac” spreads during much of
2007. By April 2008, we expect to bring on line two new
processing plants on line. One is in the panhandle of Texas
at the Beaver / Spearman complex, our largest natural gas
gathering and processing system. The new plant will have a
processing capacity of 60 million cubic feer of natural gas per
day (MMcfd), will allow us to earn processing margins on
gas we previously had to bypass and will provide the ability
1o process third party volumes in an extended operating
area. The other plant, which we refer to as the “Crossroads”
plant in east Texas, will have a processing capacity of 80

CESH DISTRIBUTABLE

DISTRIBUTIONS : CASH FLOW
PAID In millians
per LP unle :
*1.61 "120.8

05 06 07

"1.48 :
: +100.2
"1.24 I : 385.5
06 07 :




2007 growth in 2007 growth in 2007 growth in cash
operating income distriburable cash flow flow from operations

14% 1%

MMcfd and will process a portion of the Cotton Valley gas
production of Penn Virginia Corporation (NYSE: PVA)
and that of other area producers. The Crossroads plant is
expected to be a “win-win” for the Penn Virginia family of
companies, in that PVR Midstream will generate fee-based
cash flow from Crossroads while PVA's oil and gas business
will receive a benefit from the sale of natural gas liquids
processed by the plant, which it previously did not receive.

PVR Midstream is expected to continue to be a growth
platform for us, both organically, by tying new natural gas
production to existing systems and expanding existing or
constructing new facilities, and from acquisitions in the
natural gas midstream sector. We will also continue to
explore ways to provide additional facilities and services to
PVA’s oil and gas business.

As we enter 2008, we look forward to additional cash flow
contributions from our new midstream processing capacity.
We also look forward to full-year contributions te our coal
and natural resource management segment from our recent
acquisitions of coal reserves, timber and oil and gas royalties.
In both segments, we will continue the pursuit of organic
and acquisition opportunities.

As always, we greatly appreciate the hard work and
dedication of our employees and the continued loyalty
and support of our unitholders.

2007 EXPANSION @&

Our management continues to focus on acquisitions that
increase and diversify our sources of long-term cash flow.
During 2007, we acquired 60 million tons of coal reserves
via two transactions in the [llinois Basin for an aggregate
purchase price of approximately $52 million. In addition,
we acquired approximately 62,000 acres of forestland in
West Virginia for a purchase price of approximately $93
million. We also acquired royalty interests in certain oil and
gas leases in Kentucky and Virginia from Penn Virginia

19%

was Ladpe

A. James Dearlove

Chairman, President and
Chief Execurive Officer

Corporation for a purchase price of approximarely $31 million.

All four of these acquisitions significantly expanded PVR Coal
and Natural Resource Management and further diversified the
cash flows from that segment. At PVR Midstream, we spent
$39 million on expansion projects related to the construction
of two natural gas processing facilities in the panhandle of
Texas and in east Texas, which are expected to commence
operations by April 2008,
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Coal and Natural Resource Management

At year-end 2007, we owned or controlled a record 818 million tons of proven and probable coal
reserves, an increase of seven percent from the prior year level. In 2007, coal production by our lessees

was 32.5 million tons, relatively flat from a record 32.8 million tons in 2006. Segment operating income
was $68.8 million in 2007, six percent lower than 2006’s record $73.4 million,

roaT

Qur coal reserves are located in

;
* Central Appalachia, the Iilinois
e X Basin, Northern Appalachia and

in 2005 and 2006. We believe that production from

the llinois Basin will grow because of its proximiry

= . to power plants and also because of expected furure

* P the San Juan Basin. During 2007, environmental regulations which will require increased
- , | reserve increases in the Illinois scrubbing of most coals, including lower sulfur coals

o Basin and Central Appalachia from other basins. We expect to continue ro diversify
z were partially offset by decreases in our coal reserve holdings into this and other domestic
< Northern Appalachia and the San basins in the furure.

N Juan Basin. Production decreases .

s Keith D. Horton in Central Appalachia and In the second half ?F 2007, we corr-lpl:-:tcd acqmsn':ons
~ ;v:clst:.ir::arée esidont Northern Appalachia were largely offoresl[iand and oil an.d.gas royalties in Appalachia for
= P\xm e offset by production increases in appromn.larcly $I_24 million. We pl-an to cxp'and our

- coal services and infrastructure business, which had

and COO - Coal the lllinois and San Juan Basins,

During, 2007, revenues for PVR
Coal and NRM decreased one percent to $111.6
million from $113.0 million in 2006 primarily due
1o a four percent decrease in coal
royalties revenue, partially

offset by an 18 percent COAL ROYALTIES
increase in coal services and REVENUE
in milllons
natural resource management
. waz
revenues. Coal royalties 94.1
2.7

revenue decreased slightly
during 2007 primarily due
to a decrease in average

coal royalties per ton. The
decrease was largely due to
the combination of increased
production in the lllinois
Basin, which has lower coal
prices and therefore lower
royalty realizations, and
reduced production in Central Appalachia. Average coal
royalties per ton decreased three percent to $2.89 in
2007 from $2.99 in the prior year.

08 06 07

We completed two coal reserve acquisitions during
2007, adding approximately 60 million tons of coal
in the Ilinois Basin for a total acquisition cost of
approximately $52 million. The 2007 acquisitions in
the lllinois Basin complement the approximare 116
million tons of western Kentucky coal we purchased

revenue growth of 24 percent in 2007, as well as to
continue to expand our nacural resource management
businesses in the future; however, the main focus of the
segment will remain on acquiring coal reserves.

The September 2007
COAL acquisition 0Fapprox1mate.ly
ROYALTIES 62,000 acres of forestland in
perton West Virginia for a purchase
289 g price of approximately
2,14 :

$93 million significantly
expanded our existing timber
management business. As
a result of the acquisirion,
we owned approximately
220,000 acres of forestland in
Kentucky, Virginia and West
Virginia at year-end 2007.

s 06 07

The $31 million acquisition

of oil and gas royalties in
eastern Kentucky and southwestern Virginia from
PVA expanded our exposure to this sub-segment.

We also look to continue to expand our coal services
and infrastructure business. Coal infrastructure projects
typically involve long-lived, fee-based assets that
generally produce steady and predictable cash flows and
are therefore artractive to PTPs. We own a number of
such infrastructure facilities and intend to continue to
look for growth oppertunities in this area of operations.

During 2007, we acquired a preparation plant in




connection with our acquisition of coal reserves in
western Kentucky. We also have an equity incerest in
a coal handling joint venture, which is seeking to
develop opportunities for coal related infrastructure
projects involving end users.

In 2007, approximately 81 percent of the coal produced
from our properties was subject to leases which required
our lessees to pay royalties based on the higher of a
fixed base price or a percentage of the gross sales price
they received for selling the coal. Most of thar coal is
sold by our lessees under long-term contracts, typically
one to three years in length. The royalties we received
on the other 19 percent of coal produced from our
properties were based on fixed rates per ton, which
escalate annually.

In the second half of 2006 and continuing into 2007,
coal prices decreased from the historically high levels
expetienced in the previous two and one half years,

due to higher than normal coal inventories at electric
utilities and milder than normal winter weather. Coal
prices increased significantly in the fourth quarter of
2007. The global markets for most types of coal remain
strong. Conrinued demand from emerging countries
and increased domestic consumption have created

a strong global picture. U.S. produced coal enjoyed
increased demand abroad during 2007 as dwindling
supplies and the decline of the dollar made U.S.-
exported coal more attractive. Pricing is strong in early
2008 primarily due to increasing globa! demand and
supply difficulties. We believe the increase in coal prices
will benefit our lessees during 2008 as many of them
will enter into new long-term supply contracts.

Coal loading facility
in Central Appalachia

YEAR-END 2007 COAL RESERVES
MM tons

a%

N Central Appalachia 569

M N. Appalachia 30
@ Hlinois Basin 189
! San Juan Basin 81
Total 819
COAL RESERVES
900

BOO sremsseeeessssemsenenes
FOO meeeeemessecirirerrened
600
500 -
400
300
200
100

0

Coal Reserves - MM tons

Reserves Production Increases
12/31/01 02-07 02-07

OTHER NATURAL RESOURCE
MANAGEMENT REVENUES

in miltions
1.5

'14.8
*13.0 |
0s 08 07
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Natural Gas Midstream

PVR Midstream derives revenues primarily from gas purchase and processing contracts with natural gas
producers and from fees charged for gathering natural gas volumes and providing related services. PVR
Midstream also operates a natural gas marketing business, which aggregates third-party volumes and sells

those volumes into intrastate pipeline systems and at market hubs accessed by various interstate pipelines.

Ronald K. Page
PVA Vice Premdent
PVR Co-Prcoident

and COO - ddutream

We own and operate natural gas
midstream assets thar include
approximately 3,700 miles of
natural gas gathering pipelines
and three natural gas processing
plants, which had 160 MMcfd of
total capacity at year-end 2007.
Segment operating inconie was a
record $48.9 million in 2007, 67
percent higher than $29.4 million
in 2006, due primarily to higher
processing margins in 2007,

Qur natural gas midstream
operations currently include the Beaver / Spearman
gathering and processing facilities in the panhandles
of Texas and Oklahoma, the Crescent gathering and
processing facilities in central Oklahoma, the Hamlin
gathering and processing facilities in west-central
Texas and the Arkoma gathering system in eastern
Oklahoma. There are approximately 2,200 producing
wells connected to our natural gas gathering pipelines,
with the Beaver / Spearman and Crescent systems
comprising the majority of the well-connects and
processing capacity

The 67 percent increase in operating income was
primarily the result of high frac spreads during 2007
caused by higher NGL sale prices and lower natural
gas purchase costs, along with an increase in system
throughput volumes. The gross processing margin
increased by 32 percent to $89.9 million, or $1.33
per Mcf, in 2007, from $68.1 million, or $1.10 per
Mcf, in the prior year. Adjusted for the cash impact
of derivatives, the gross processing margin was $76.7
million, or $1.13 per Mcf, in 2007, up 51 percent from
$50.6 million, or $0.82 per Mcf, in the prior year.

System throughpur volumes at our gas processing plants
and gathering systems increased nine percent to 67.8
Bef, or approximately 186 MMcf per day, in 2007 from
62.0 Bcf, or approximately 170 MMcf per day, in the
prior year. The increase in system throughput volumes
was primarily due to our success in contracting and

connecting new supply to our facilities. Much
of this new gas is a result of continued successful
development by the producers operating in the
vicinity of our systems.

We commenced our natural gas midstream operatians
through an acquisition in March 2005 and have
continued to grow this segment through addirional
acquisitions and expansion projects. We also continue
to explore potential operating synergies with PVA's oil
and gas exploration and production business, including
marketing natural gas production and building a
processing plant in east Texas.

We continually seek new supplies of natural gas both
to offset the natural declines in production from the
wells currently connected to our systems and to
increase system throughpur volumes. New natural

gas supplies are obtained for all of our systems by
contracting for production from new wells, connecting
new wells drilled on dedicated acreage and by
contracting for natural gas chac has been released

from competitors’ systems.

During 2007, we spent $38.7 million on expansion
projects to atlow us to capitalize on such opportunities,
The expansion projects included two natural gas
processing facilities with a combined 140 MMcfd of
inlet gas capacity, which are expecied to commence
operations by April 2008. These two natural gas
processing plants include the Crossroads plant in
east Texas, with 80 MMcfd capacity, which will
process most of the liquids-rich Cotron Valley gas
production for PVA, and the Spearman plant, with
G0 MMecfd capacity, which will process gas that
currently is bypassing our largest plant (Beaver),
which is at capacity.

During 2007, PVR Midstream generated a2 majority
of its gross margin from gas purchase / keep-whole
{37 percent) and percentage-of-proceeds (34 percent)
contractual arrangements, under which our gross
margin is exposed 1o increases and decreases in the
price of natural gas and natural gas liquids (NGLs).




The remaining 29 percent of the gross margin was
generated by system throughput volumes processed
under fee-based gathering contracts. As a result, much
of PVR Midstream’s profitabilicy depends on the
relationship between the price we receive for the NGLs
we extract and sell at our processing plants and the
price of natural gas we purchase from producers. The
difference between these two prices, the fractionation
or “frac” spread, can be volatile and difficult to predicr.
Therefore, we employ various commodity price
derivatives to protect our margins.

ORGANIC GROWTH

Due 1o high commodity prices and increased
competition to purchase energy assets, acquisition
costs have risen and corresponding acquisition

rates of return have fallen over the past few years. In
response, we and other PTPs have sought supplemental
growth via “organic” or non-acquisition opportunities.
Examples of this type of arganic growth in midstream
include successfully competing for increased well-
connects in producing areas with strong production
growth, engaging in drop-down transactions involving
assets sold by a parent or other affiliated enrity, and

constructing, rather than buying, new midstream assets.

We have successfully engaged in these types of activiries
over the past two years in both the midstream segment
{e.g., increased well-connects, construction of new
processing plants) and the coal and natural resource
management segment {e.g., coal infrastructure, oil and
gas royalties). The goals of such organic growth efforts
are to reduce the costs of overall growth and to thereby
improve returns to unitholders relative to an acquire-
only growth model.

100 MMcfd processing
plant at Beaver in the
panhandle of Texas,
PVR's largest facility

SYSTENM THROUGHPUT VOLUMES
MMcf per day

O Beaver Syctem 12.%

Creocent System 13%
0O Hamlin Syctem 5%
I Arlroma Syztem ' 10°:

186 [
170 "

\ 05
144

0 Beavcr System 76%

Crecesnt System 117%
0 Hamlin System 4.
{1 Arkoma System 8%

06

Q Beavcr System 7B
07 Croscent System 1123

0O Hamlin Syotem 4%
| {1 Arkoma System® 1%

08

{a) Gathering volumes only

MIDSTREANM PROCESSING MARGIN
per Mcf of system threughput votume

.33

A

MIDSTREAM PROCESSING MARGIN

in mitllons

'89.9
'
168.1
H4.7*
N/
05 06 01

* 10 month data for 2005
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2007 Acquisition and Expansion Summary

We seek growth via acquisitions and also through organic growth expansion opportunities.
During 2007, we completed two coal reserve acquisitions in che Illinois Basin, as well as the
acquisition of forestland in West Virginia and oil and gas royalty interests in properties in
Virginia and Kentucky. Furthermore, we began the construction of two processing plants in
Texas in 2007, which will both be on line by April 2008 and will significantly expand our
processing capacity at a time when gross processing margins are at or near record levels.

Coal and Natural Resource
Management Transactions

(1) Mlinots Basin Coal Reserve Acquisitions
$52 Million / 60 MM tons

(2) West Virginia Forestland Acquisition
$93 Million / 62,000 acres

(3) Kentucky & Virginia Royalty Acquisition
$31 Million / 8.7 Bcfe

Natural Gas
Midstream Expansion

(4) Spearman Gas Processing Plant
60 MMcfd capacity

(5) Crossroads Gas Processing Plant
80 MMcfd capacity
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Part1
Item 1 Business
General

Penn Virginia Resource Partners, L.P. (NYSE: PVR) is a publicly traded Delaware limited partnership formed by Penn
Virginia Corporation (NYSE: PVA), or Penn Virginia, in 2001 that is principally engaged in the management of coal and
natural resource properties and the gathering and processing of natural gas in the United States. Both in our current limited
partnership form and in our previous corporate form, we have managed coal properties since 1882. We currently conduct
operations in two business segments: (1) coal and natural resource management and (2) natural gas midstream. Our
operating income was $117.7 million in 2007, compared to $102.8 million in 2006 and $78.1 million in 2005. In 2007, our
coal and natural resource management segment contributed $68.8 million, or 58%, to operating income, and our natural gas
midstream segment contributed $48.9 million, or 42%, to operating income. Unless the context requires otherwise,
references to the “Partnership,” “we,” “us” or “our” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K refer Penn Virginia Resource
Partners, L.P. and its subsidiaries.

Coal and Natural Resource Management Segment Overview

Our coal and natural resource management segment primarily involves the management and leasing of coal and natural
resource properties and the subsequent collection of royalties. We also earn revenues from the prevision of fee-based coal
preparation and leading services, from the sale of standing timber on our properties, from oil and gas royalty interests we
own and from coal transportation, or wheelage, fees.

As of December 31, 2007, we owned or controlled approximately 818 million tons of proven and probable coal reserves
in Central and Northern Appalachia, the San Juan Basin and the [llinois Basin. As of December 31, 2007, approximately
89% of our proven and probable coal reserves were “steam” coal used primarily by electric generation utilities, and the
remaining 11% were metallurgical coal used primarily by steel manufacturers. We enter into long-term leases with
experienced, third-party mine operators, providing them the right to mine our coal reserves in exchange for royalty payments.
We actively work with our lessees to develop efficient methods to exploit our reserves and to maximize production from our
properties. We do not operate any mines. In 2007, our lessees produced 32.5 million tons of coal from our properties and
paid us coal royalties revenues of $94.1 million, for an average royatty per ton of $2.89. Approximately 81% of our coal
royalties revenues in 2007 and 84% of our coal royalties revenues in 2006 were derived from coal mined on our properties
under leases containing royalty rates based on the higher of a fixed base price or a percentage of the gross sales price. The
batance of our coal royalties revenues for the respective periods was derived from coal mined on our properties under leases
containing fixed royalty rates that escalate annually. See “—Contracts—Coal and Natural Resource Management Segment”
for a description of our coal leases.

Natural Gas Midstream Segment Overview

Qur natural gas midstream segment is engaged in providing gas processing, gathering and other related natural gas
services. We own and operate natural gas midstream assets located in Oklahoma and the panhandle of Texas. These assets
include approximately 3,682 miles of natural gas gathering pipelines and three natural gas processing facilities having 160
MMcfd of total capacity. Our natural gas midstream business derives revenues primarily from gas processing contracts with
natural gas producers and from fees charged for gathering natural gas volumes and providing other related services. We also
own a natural gas marketing business, which aggregates third-party volumes and sells those volumes into intrastate pipeline
systems and at market hubs accessed by various interstate pipelines. We acquired our first natural gas midstream assets
through the acquisition of Cantera Gas Resources, LLC, or Cantera, in March 2005.

In 2007, system throughput volumes at our gas processing plants and gathering systems, including gathering-only
volumes, were 67.8 Bef, or approximately 186 MMcfd. In 2007, three of our natural gas midstream customers,
ConocoPhillips Company, Equistar Chemicals, LP and BP Canada Energy Marketing Corp., accounted for 25%, 14% and
14% of our natural gas midstream revenues and 20%, 11% and 11% of our total consolidated revenues.

Business Strategy

Qur primary business objective is to create sustainable, capital-efficient growth in distributable cash flow to maximize
our cash distributions to our unitholders by expanding our coal property management and natural gas gathering and
processing businesses through both internal growth and acquisitions. We have successfully grown our business through
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organic growth projects and acquisitions of coal and natural resource properties and natural gas midstream assets. Since our
initial public offering in October 2001, we have completed numerous accretive acquisitions with an aggregate purchase price
of approximately $750 million. For a more detailed discussion of our acquisitions, see Item 7, “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Acquisitions and Investments.” We intend to continue to
pursue the following business strategies:

»  Continue to grow coal reserve holdings through acquisitions and investments in our existing market areas, as well
as strategically entering new markets. During 2007, we increased our coal reserves by 60 million tons, or 8%, from
our coal reserves as of December 31, 2006, by completing two acquisitions for an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $52 million. While we continue to build upon our core holdings in Appalachia, we also continue to
pursue cogl opportunities in other areas. For example, in 2005, 2006 and 2007, we made investments in Illinois
Basin coal reserves because we view the Illinois Basin as a growth area, both because of its proximity to power
plants and because we expect future environmental regulations will require scrubbing of not only higher sulfur
Illinois Basin coal, but most coals, including lower sulfur coals from other basins. We expect to continue to
diversify our coal reserve holdings into this and other domestic basins in the future.

o Expand our coal services and infrastructure business on our properties. Coal infrastructure projects typically
involve long-lived, fee-based assets that generally produce steady and predictable cash flows and are therefore
attractive to publicly traded limited partnerships. We own a number of such infrastructure facilities and intend to
continue to look for growth opportunities in this area of operations. For example, we completed the construction of
a new preparation and loading facility in September 2006 on property we acquired in 2005, Operations at the
facility commenced in the fourth quarter of 2006. In 2007, we acquired a preparation plant in connection with cur
acquisition of coal reserves. We also have an equity interest in a coal handling joint venture, which is expected to
provide other development opportunities for coal-related infrastructure projects.

»  Expand our other natural resource management assets. Our management continues to focus on acquisitions that
increase and diversify our sources of long-term cash flow. For example, in 2007, we acquired approximately 62,000
acres of forestland in West Virginia for a purchase price of approximately $93 million and royalty interests in
certain oil and gas leases relating to properties located in Kentucky and Virginia for a purchase price of
approximately $31 million.

»  Expand our natural gas midstream operations through acquisitions of new gathering and processing related assets
and by adding new production to existing systems. We continually seek new supplies of natural gas both to offset
the natural declines in production from the wells currently connected to our systems and to increase system
throughput volumes. New natural gas supplies are obtained for all of our systems by contracting for production
from new wells, connecting new wells drilled on dedicated acreage and by contracting for natural gas that has been
released from competitors’ systems. During 2007, we expended $38.7 million on expansion projects to allow us to
capitalize on such opportunities. The expansion projects included two natural gas processing facilities with a
combined 140 MMcfd of inlet gas capacity, which are expected to commence operations in 2008,

«  Utilize the advantages of our relationship with Penn Virginia. During 2006, we began marketing Penn Virginia's
natural gas production in Louisiana, Oklahoma and Texas, allowing us to add a new source of revenues. In 2007,
we announced plans to construct a new 80 MMcfd gas processing plant in the Bethany Field in east Texas and
entered into a gas gathering and processing agreement with Penn Virginia. The new cast Texas plant will provide
fee-based gas processing services to Penn Virginia’s oil and gas business, as well as other producers. In addition, as
discussed above, we purchased approximately $31 million of 0il and gas royalty interests from Penn Virginia. We
will continue to look for ways to take advantage of our natural relationship with Penn Virginia in mutually
beneficial ways.

Contracts
Coal and Natural Resource Management Segment

We earn most of our coal royalties revenues under long-term leases that generally require our lessees to make royalty
payments to us based on the higher of a percentage of the gross sales price or a fixed price per ton of coal they sell. The
balance of our coal royalties revenues are earned under long-term leases that require the lessees to make royalty payments to
us based on fixed royalty rates which escalate annually. A typical lease either expires upon exhaustion of the leased reserves
or has a five to ten-year base term, with the lessee having an option to extend the lease for at least five years after the
expiration of the base term. Substantially all of our leases require the lessee to pay minimum rental payments to us in
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monthly or annuai installments, even if no mining activities are ongoing. These minimum rentals are recoupable, usually
over a period from one to three years from the time of payment, against the production royalties owed to us once coal
production commences.

Substantially all of our leases impose obligations on the lessees to diligently mine the leased coal using modern mining
techniques, indemnify us for any damages we incur in connection with the lessee’s mining operations, including any damages
we may incur due to the lessee’s failure to fulfill reclamation or other environmental obligations, conduct mining operations
in compliance with all applicable laws, obtain our written consent prior to assigning the lease and maintain commercially
reasonable amounts of general liability and other insurance. Substantially all of the leases grant us the right to review all
lessee mining plans and maps, enter the leased premises to examine mine workings and conduct audits of lessees’ compliance
with lease terms. In the event of a default by a lessee, substantially all of the leases give us the right to terminate the lease
and take possession of the leased premises.

In addition, we earn revenues under coal services contracts, timber contracts and oil and gas leases. Our coal services
contracts generally provide that the users of our coal services pay us a fixed fee per ton of coal processed at our facilities. All
of our coal services contracts are with lessees of our coal reserves and these contracts generally have terms that run
concurrently with the related coal lease. Qur timber contracts generally provide that the timber companies pay us a fixed
price per thousand board feet of timber harvested from our property. We receive royalties under our oil and gas leases based
on a percentage of the revenues the producers receive for the oil and gas they sell.

Natural Gas Midstream Segment

Our natural gas midstream business generates revenues primarily from gas purchase and processing contracts with
natural gas producers and from fees charged for gathering natural gas volumes and providing other related services. During
the year ended December 31, 2007, our natural gas midstream business generated a majority of its gross margin from two
types of contractual arrangements under which its margin is exposed to increases and decreases in the price of natural gas and
NGLs: (i) percentage-of-proceeds and (ii) keep-whole arrangements. As of December 31, 2007, approximately 37% of our
system throughput volumes were processed under gas purchase/keep-whole contracts, 34% were processed under percentage-
of-proceeds contracts, and 29% were processed under fee-based gathering contracts. A majority of the gas purchase/keep-
whole and percentage-of-preceeds contracts include fee-based components such as gathering and compression charges.

There is also a processing fee floor included in many of the gas purchase/keep-whole contracts that ensures a minimum
processing margin should the actual margins fall below the floor.

Gas Purchase/Keep-Whole Arrangements. Under these arrangements, we generally purchase natural gas at the wellhead
at either (i) a percentage discount to a specified index price, (ii) a specified index price less a fixed amount or (iii) a
combination of (i} and (ii}. We then gather the natural gas to one of our plants where it is processed to extract the entrained
NGLs, which are then sold to third parties at market prices. We resell the remaining natural gas to third parties at an index
price which typically corresponds to the specified purchase index. Because the extraction of the NGLs from the natural gas
during processing reduces the BTU content of the natural gas, we retain a reduced volume of gas to sell after processing,.
Accordingly, under these arrangements, our revenues and gross margins increase as the price of NGLs increases relative to
the price of natural gas, and our revenues and gross margins decrease as the price of natural gas increases relative to the price
of NGLs. We have generally been able to mitigate our exposure in the latter case by requiring the payment under many of
our gas purchase/keep-whole arrangements of minimum processing charges which ensure that we receive a minimurn amount
of processing revenues. The gross margins that we realize under the arrangements described in clauses (i) and (iii) above also
decrease in periods of low natural gas prices because these gross margins are based on a percentage of the index price.

Percentage-of-Proceeds Arrangements. Under percentage-of-proceeds arrangements, we generally gather and process
natural gas on behalf of producers, sell the resulting residue gas and NGL volumes at market prices and remit to producers an
agreed-upon percentage of the proceeds of those sales based on either an index price or the price actually received for the gas
and NGLs. Under these types of arrangements, our revenues and gross margins increase as natural gas prices and NGL
prices increase, and our revenues and gross margins decrease as natural gas prices and NGL prices decrease.

Fee-Based Arrangements, Under fee-based arrangements, we receive fees for gathering, compressing and/or processing
natural gas. The revenues we earn from these arrangements are directly dependent on the volume of natural gas that flows
through our systems and are independent of commodity prices. To the extent a sustained decline in commodity prices results
in a decline in volumes, however, our revenues from these arrangements wouid be reduced due to the related reduction in
drilling and development of new supply.



In many cases, we provide services under contracts that contain a combination of more than one of the arrangements
described above. The terms of our contracts vary based on gas quality conditions, the competitive environment at the time
the contracts were signed and customer requirements. The contract mix and, accordingly, exposure to natural gas and NGL
prices, may change as a result of changes in producer preferences, expansion in regions where some types of contracts are
more common and other market factors.

We are also engaged in natural gas marketing by aggregating third-party volumes and selling those volumes into
interstate and intrastate pipeline systems such as Enogex and ONEOK and at market bubs accessed by various interstate
pipelines. Connect Energy Services, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of us, earned fees for marketing a portien of Penn
Virginia Oil & Gas, L.P.’s natural gas production during 2007 and 2006. Penn Virginia Qil & Gas, L.P, is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Penn Virginia, The marketing agreement was effective September 1, 2006. Revenues from this business do not
generate qualifying income for a publicly traded limited partnership, but we do not expect it to have an impact on our tax
status, as it does not represent a significant percentage of our operating income. For the years ended December 31, 2007 and
2006, natural gas marketing activities generated $4.6 million and $2.2 million in net revenues.

Commodity Derivative Contracts. We utilize costless collar and swap derivative contracts to hedge against the
variability in cash flows associated with forecasted natural gas midstream revenues and cost of midstream gas purchased. We
also utilize swap derivative contracts to hedge against the variability in our “frac spread.” Our frac spread is the spread
between the purchase price for the natural gas we purchase from producers and the sale price for the NGLs that we sell after
processing. We hedge against the variability in our frac spread by entering into swap derivative contracts to sell NGLs
forward at a predetermined swap price and to purchase an equivalent volume of natural gas forward on an MMbtu basis.
While the use of derivative instruments limits the risk of adverse price movements, their use also may limit future revenues
or cost savings from favorable price movements.

With respect to a costless collar contract, the counterparty is required to make a payment to us if the settiement price for
any settlement period is below the floor price for such contract. We are required to make payment to the counterparty if the
settlement price for any seftlement period is above the ceiling price for such contract. Neither party is required to make a
payment to the other party if the settlement price for any settlement period is equal to or greater than the floor price and equal
to or less than the ceiling price for such contract. With respect to a swap contract, the counterparty is required to make a
payment to us if the settlement price for any settlement period is less than the swap price for such contract, and we are
required to make a payment to the counterparty if the settlement price for any settlement period is greater than the swap price
for such contract.

See Note 7 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further description of our derivatives program.
Partnership Structure

Penn Virginia, a publicly held energy company based in Radnor, Pennsylvania, has been engaged in the coal royalty
business since 1882 and is also engaged in the exploration, development and production of natural gas and oil. Penn Virginia
formed us in July 2001 to own and operate substantially all of the assets of and assume the liabilities relating to Penn
Virginia's coal land management business. We completed our initial public offering in October 2001, Penn Virginia
continues to hold a significant interest in us through its indirect controlling interest in Penn Virginia GP Holdings, L.P.
(NYSE: PVG), or PVG, a publicly traded Delaware limited partnership.

Our operations are conducted through, and our operating assets are owned by, our subsidiaries. We own our subsidiaries
through an operating company, Penn Virginia Operating Co., LLC, or the Operating Company. The following diagram
depicts our and our affiliates’ current simplified organizational and ownership structure as of December 31, 2007:
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Relationship with Penn Virginia Corporation

Penn Virginia has a history of successfully completing energy acquisitions. We pursue acquisitions independently and
have the opportunity to participate jointly with Penn Virginia in reviewing potential acquisitions. These may include
acquisitions of properties containing multiple natural resources, such as oil, natural gas, coal and timber, as well as
infrastructure related to those resources, such as natural gas gathering systems and coal preparation plants and loading
facilities. We would expect to retain all coal reserves and related infrastructure, all timber resources and all natural gas
gathering systems acquired in any such joint acquisition and to allocate the remaining purchased assets between us and Penn
Virginia as appropriate after considering each entity’s characteristics and strategies. We expect that our ability to participate
in potential acquisitions with, and our access to the experienced management team and industry contacts of, Penn Virginia
will benefit us.

Our partnership agreement provides that our general partner is restricted from engaging in any business activities other
than those incidental to its ownership of interests in us. Under an omnibus agreement between us, Penn Virginia and our
general partner, Penn Virginia and its affiliates, including PVG and our general partner, are restricted in their ability to
engage in any coal-related business. See Item 13, “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director
Independence—Transactions with Related Persons.”

Partnership Distributions
Cash Distributions
We paid cash distributions of $1.66 per common and Class B unit during the year ended December 31, 2007. In the first
quarter of 2008, we paid a quarterly distribution of $0.44 ($1.76 on an annualized basis) per common unit with respect to the
fourth quarter of 2007. For the remainder of 2008, we expect to pay quarterly distributions of at least $0.44 ($1.76 on an

annualized basis) per commeon unit,

The following table reflects the allocation of total cash distributions paid by us during the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005:

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(in thousand, except per unit data)
Limited partner units .......cccoevevneeeiicisionieniennn, 376,536 $61,427 $50,018
General partner interest (2%) .ooovverivveininiiininenn 1,562 1,254 1,021
Incentive distribution rights.........ccoovevrinnnnn: 11,551 4,273 910
Total cash distributions paid............cccceeeeec. 589,649 $66,954 $51,94%
Total cash distributions paid per unit.................... $1.6660 $1.4750 $1.2413




Incentive Distribution Rights

In accordance with our partnership agreement, incentive distribution rights represent the right to receive an increasing
percentage of quarterly distributions of available cash from operating surplus after the minimum quarterly distribution and
the target distribution levels have been achieved. The minimum quarterly distribution is $0.25 per unit ($1.00 per unit on an
annualized basis). Our general partmer currently holds 100% of the incentive distribution rights, but may transfer these rights
separately from its general partner interest to an affiliate (other than an individual) or to another entity as part of the merger
or consolidation of our general partner with or into such entity or the transfer of all or substantially all of our general
partner’s assets to another entity without the prior approval of our unitholders if the transferce agrees to be bound by the
provisions of our partnership agreement. Prior to September 30, 2011, other transfers of incentive distribution rights will
require the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the outstanding common units. On or after September 30, 2011, the
incentive distribution rights will be freely transferable. The incentive distribution rights are payable as follows:

If for any quarter:

» we have distributed available cash from operating surplus to our common unitholders in an amount equal to the
minimum quarterly distribution; and

«  we have distributed available cash from operating surplus on outstanding common units in an amount necessary to

eliminate any cumulative arrearages in payment of the minimum quarterly distribution,

then, we will distribute any additional available cash from operating surplus for that quarter among the unitholders and our
general partner in the following manner:

«  First, 98% to all unitholders, and 2% to our general partner, until each unitholder has received a total of $0.275 per
unit for that quarter;

e  Second, 85% to all unitholders, and 15% to our general partner, until each unitholder has received a total of $0.325
per unit for that quarter;

«  Third, 75% to all unitholders, and 25% to our general partner, until each unitholder has received a total of $0.375
per unit for that quarter; and

s Thereafter, 50% to all unitholders and 50% to our general partner.

Our quarterly distribution rate has exceeded $0.375 per unit since the distribution we paid in November 2006 with
respect to the third quarter of 2006. Therefore, our general partner has received 50% of available cash in excess of $0.375
per unit since then.

Subordinated Units

Until November 14, 2006, we had a separate class of subordinated units representing limited partner interests in us, and
the rights of holders of subordinated units to participate in distributions to limited partners were subordinated to the rights of
the holders of our common units. On November 14, 2006, all of our subordinated units converted into common units on a
one-for-one basis and no subordinated units remain outstanding.

Until May 22, 2007, we had Class B units, a separate class of subordinated units representing limited partner interests in
us that were issued to PVG in connection with PVG’s initial public offering, or the PVG IPO. On May 22, 2007, all of our
Class B units automatically converted into commeon units on a one-for-one basis and no Class B units remain outstanding.

Limited Call Right

If at any time our general partner and its affiliates own more than 80% of our outstanding common units, our general
partner has the right, which it may assign in whole or in part to any of its affiliates or us, but not the obligation, to acquire all,
but not less than all, of the remaining common units held by unaffiliated persons as of a record date to be selected by our
general partner, on at least ten but not more than 60 days’ notice, at a price not less than the then-current market price of our
COMINON Units.




As a result of our general partner’s right to purchase outstanding common units, a holder of common units may have his
or her common units purchased at an undesirable time or price. The tax consequences to a unitholder of the exercise of this
call right are the same as a sale by that unitholder of his or her units in the market.

As of February 28, 2008, PVG and its affiliates owned 19,805,025 common units, representing approximately 43% of
our outstanding common units.

Certain Conflicts of Interest

Conlflicts of interest exist and may arise in the future as a result of the relationships between our general partner and its
affiliates {including Penn Virginia and PVG), on the one hand, and us and our limited partners, on the other hand. Our
general partner is controlled by PV, which is in turn controlled by Penn Virginia. Accordingly, PVG (and Penn Virginia
indirectly) has the ability to elect, remove and replace the directors and officers of our general partner. The directors and
officers of our general partner have fiduciary duties to manage our general partner in a manner beneficial to its owners, Penn
Virginia and PVG. At the same time, our general partner has a fiduciary duty to manage us in a manner beneficial to us and
our unitholders.

Certain of the executive officers and non-independent directors of our general partner also serve as executive officers
and directors of Penn Virginia or the general partner of PVG. Consequently, these directors and officers may encounter
situations in which their fiduciary obligations to Penn Virginia or PVG, on the one hand, and us, on the other hand, are in
conflict.

Limits on Fiduciary Responsibilities

Our partnership agreement limits the liability and reduces the fiduciary dutics owed by our general partner to our
unitholders. Our partnership agreement also restricts the remedies available to our unitholders for actions that might
otherwise constitute breaches of our general partner’s fiduciary duty.

Our partnership agreement contains provisions that waive or consent to conduct by our general partner and its aftiliates
that might otherwise raise issues about compliance with fiduciary duties or applicable law. For example, our partnership
agreement permits our general partner to make a number of decisions in its “sole discretion.” This entitles our general
partner to consider only the interests and factors that it desires and it has no duty or obligation to give any consideration to
any interest of, or factors affecting, us, our affiliates or any limited partner. Other provisions of the partnership agreement
provide that our general partner’s actions must be made in its reasonable discretion. These standards reduce the obligations
to which our general partner would otherwise be held.

Our partnership agreement generally provides that affiliated transactions and resolutions of conflicts of interest not
involving a required vote of unitholders must be “fair and reasonable” to us under the factors previously set forth. In
determining whether a transaction or resolution is “fair and reasonable” our general partner may consider the interests of all
parties involved, including its own. Unless our general partner has acted in bad faith, the action taken by our general partner
shall not constitute a breach of its fiduciary duty. These standards reduce the obligations to which our general partner would
otherwise be held.

In addition to the other more specific provisions limiting the obligations of our general partner, our partnership
agreement further provides that our general partner and its officers and directors will not be liable for monetary damages to
us, our limited partners or assignees for errors of judgment or for any acts or omissions if our general partner and those other
persons acted in good faith.

In order to become a limited partner of our partmership, a common unitholder is required to agree to be bound by the
provisions in our partnership agreement, including the provisions discussed above. This is in accordance with the poticy of
the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act favoring the principle of freedom of contract and the enforceability
of partnership agreements. The failure of a limited partner or assignee to sign a partnership agreement does not render the
partnership agreement unenforceable against that person.

We are required to indemnify our general partner and its officers, directors, employees, affiliates, partners, members,
agents and trustees to the fullest extent permitted by law against liabilities, costs and expenses incurred by our general partner
or these other persons. This indemnification is required if our general partner or any of these persons acted in goed faith and
in a manner they reasonably believed to be in, or {in the case of a person other than cur general partner) not opposed to, our
best interests. [ndemnification is required for criminal proceedings if our general partner or these other persons had no
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reasonable cause to believe their conduct was unlawful. Thus, our general partner could be indemnified for its negligent acts
if it met these requirements concerning good faith and our best interests.

Competition
Coal and Natural Resource Management Segment

The coal industry is intensely competitive primarily as a result of the existence of numerous producers. Our lessees
compete with both large and small coal preducers in various regions of the United States for domestic sales. The indusiry has
undergone significant consolidation which has led to some of the competitors of our lessees having significantly larger
financial and operating resources than most of our lessees. Our lessees compete on the basis of coal price at the mine, coal
quality (including sulfur content), transportation cost from the mine to the customer and the reliability of supply. Continued
demand for our coal and the prices that our lessees obtain are also affected by demand for electricity, demand for
metallurgical coal, access to transportation, environmental and government regulations, technological developments and the
availability and price of alternative fuel supplies, including nuclear, natural gas, oil and hydroelectric power. Demand for our
low sulfur coal and the prices our lessees will be able to obtain for it will also be affected by the price and availability of high
sulfur coal, which can be marketed in tandem with emissions allowances which permit the high sulfur coa! to meet federal
Clean Air Act requirements.

Natural Gas Midstream Segment

The ability to offer natural gas producers competitive gathering and processing arrangements and subsequent reliable
service is fundamental to obtaining and keeping gas supplies for our gathering systems. The primary concerns of the
producer are:

« the pressure maintained on the system at the point of receipt;

e the relative volumes of gas consumed as fuel and lost;

+ the gathering/processing fees charged;

+ the timeliness of well connects;

» the customer service orientation of the gatherer/processor; and

o the reliability of the field services provided.

We experience competition in all of our natural gas midstream markets. Our competitors include major integrated oil
companies, interstate and intrastate pipelines and companies that gather, compress, process, transport and market natural gas.
Many of our competitors have greater financial resources and access to larger natural gas supplies than do we.

Government Regulation and Environmental Matters

The operations of our coal and natural resource management business and natural gas midstream business are subject to
environmental laws and regulations adopted by various governmental authorities in the jurisdictions in which these
operations are conducted.

Coal and Natural Resource Management Segment

General Regulation Applicable to Coal Lessees. Our lessees are obligated to conduct mining operations in compliance
with all applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations. These laws and regulations include matters involving the
discharge of materials into the environment, employee health and safety, mine permits and other licensing requirements,
reclamation and restoration of mining properties after mining is completed, management of materials generated by mining
operations, surface subsidence from underground mining, water pollution, legislatively mandated benefits for current and
retired coal miners, air quality standards, protection of wetlands, plant and wildlife protection, limitations on land use, storage
of petroleum products and substances which are regarded as hazardous under applicable laws and management of electrical
equipment containing polychlorinated biphenyls, or PCBs. These extensive and comprehensive regulatory requirements are
closely enforced, our lessees regularly have on-site inspections and violations during mining operations are not unusual in the
industry, notwithstanding compliance efforts by our lessees. However, none of the violations to date, or the monetary
penalties assessed, have been material to us or, to our knowledge, to our lessees. Although many new safety requirements
have been instituted recently, we do not currently expect that future compliance will have a material adverse effect on us.
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While it is not possible to quantify the costs of compliance by our lessees with all applicable federal, state and local laws
and regulations, those costs have been and are expected to continue to be significant. The lessees post performance bonds
pursuant to federal and state mining laws and regulations for the estimated costs of reclamation and mine closing, including
the cost of treating mine water discharge when necessary. We do not accrue for such costs because our lessees are
contractually liable for all costs relating to their mining operations, including the costs of reclamation and mine closure.
However, we do require some smaller lessees to deposit into escrow certain funds for reclamation and mine closure costs or
post performance bonds for these costs. Although we believe that the lessees typically accrue adequate amounts for these
costs, their future operating results would be adversely affected if they later determined these accruals to be insufficient.
Compliance with these laws and regulations has substantially increased the cost of coal mining for all domestic coal
producers.

In addition, the utility industry, which is the most significant end-user of coal, is subject to extensive regulation
regarding the environmental impact of its power generation activities which could affect demand for coal mined by our
lessees. The possibility exists that new legislation or regulations may be adopted which have a significant impact on the
mining operations of our lessees or their customers” ability to use coal and may require us, our lessees or their customers to
change operations significantly or incur substantial costs.

Air Emissions. The Clean Air Act, or the CAA, and corresponding state and local laws and regulations affect all aspects
of our business, both directly and indirectly. The CAA directly impacts our lessees’ coal mining and processing operations
by imposing permitting requirements and, in some cases, requirements to install certain emissions control equipment, on
sources that emit various hazardous and non-hazardous air pollutants. The CAA also indirectly affects coal mining
operations by extensively regulating the air emissions of coal-fired electric power generating plants. There have been a series
of recent federal rulemakings that are focused on emissions from coal-fired electric generating facilities. Installation of
additional emissions control technology and additional measures required under U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, or
the EPA, laws and regulations will make it more costly to build and operate coal-fired power plants and, depending on the
requirements of individual state implementation plans, could make coal a less attractive fuel alternative in the planning and
building of power plants in the future. Any reduction in coal’s share of power generating capacity could negatively impact
our lessees’ ability to sell coal, which could have a material effect on our coal royalties revenues.

The EPA’s Acid Rain Program, provided in Title IV of the CAA, regulates emissions of sulfur dioxide from electric
generating facilities. Sulfur dioxide is a by-product of coal combustion. Affected facilities purchase or are otherwise
allocated sulfur dioxide emissions allowances, which must be surrendered annually in an amount equal to a facility’s sulfur
dioxide emissions in that year. Affected facilities may sell or trade excess allowances to other facilities that require
additional allowances to offset their sulfur dioxide emissions. In addition to purchasing or trading for additional sulfur
dioxide allowances, affected power facilities can satisfy the requirements of the EPA’s Acid Rain Program by switching to
lower sulfur fuels, installing pollution control devices such as flue gas desulfurization systems, or “scrubbers,” or by reducing
electricity generating levels.

The EPA has promulgated rules, referred to as the “NOx SIP Call,” that require coal-fired power plants and other large
stationary sources in 21 eastern states and Washington D.C, to make substantial reductions in nitrogen oxide emissions in an
effort to reduce the impacts of ozone transport between states. Additionally, in March 2005, the EPA issued the final Clean
Air Interstate Rule, or CAIR, which will permanently cap nitrogen oxide and sulfur dioxide emissions in 28 eastern states and
Washington, D.C. beginning in 2009 and 2010. CAIR requires these states to achieve the required emission reductions by
requiring power plants to either participate in an EPA-administered “cap-and-trade” program that caps emission in two
phases, or by meeting an individual state emissions budget through measures established by the state. The stringency of the
caps under CAIR may require many coal-fired sources to install additional pollution control equipment, such as wet
scrubbers, to comply. This increased sulfur emission removal capability required by CAIR could result in decreased demand
for lower sulfur coal, which may potentially drive down prices for lower sulfur coal.

In March 20035, the EPA finalized the Clean Air Mercury Rule, or CAMR, which was to establish a two-part, nationwide
cap on mercury emissions from coal-fired power plants beginning in 2010. It was the subject of extensive controversy and
litigation and, in February 2008, the U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia vacated CAMR. EPA has not
yet indicated if it will appeal the decision or how it will proceed with the regulation of mercury emissions. Various states
have promulgated or are considering more stringent emission limits on mercury emissions from coal-fired electric generating
units.

The EPA has adopted new, more stringent national air guality standards for ozone and fine particulate matter. Asa
result, some states will be required to amend their existing state implementation plans to attain and maintain compliance with
the new air quality standards. In March 2007, the EPA published final rules addressing how states would implement plans to
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bring regions designated as non-attainment for fine particulate matter into compliance with the new air quality standard.
Under the EPA’s final rule, states have until April 2008 to submit their implementation plans to the EPA for approval.
Because coal mining operations and coal-fired electric generating facilities emit particulate matter, our lessees’ mining
operations and their customers could be affected when the new standards are implemented by the applicable states.

Likewise, the EPA’s regional haze program to improve visibility in national parks and wilderness areas required affected
states to develop timplementation plans by December 2007 that, among other things, identify facilities that will have to reduce
emissions and comply with stricter emission limitations. This program may restrict construction of new coal-fired power
plants where emissions are projected to reduce visibility in protected areas. In addition, this program may require certain
existing coal-fired power plants to install emissions control equipment to reduce haze-causing emissions such as sulfur
dioxide, nitrogen oxide and particulate matter.

The U.S. Department of Justice, on behalf of the EPA, has filed lawsuits against a number of coal-fired electric
generating facilities alleging violations of the new source review provisions of the CAA. The EPA has alleged that certain
medifications have been made to these facilities without first obtaining permits required under the new source review
program. Several of these lawsuits have settled, but others remain pending. On April 2, 2007, the United States Supreme
Court ruled in one such case, Environmental Defense v. Duke Energy Corp. The Court held that EPA is not required to use
an “hourly rate test” in determining whether a modification to a coal burning utility requires a permit under the new source
review program, thus allowing the EPA to apply a test based on average annual emissions, The use of an annual emissions
test could subject more coal-fired utility modification projects to the permitting requirements of the CAA New Source
Review Program, such as those that allow plants to run for more hours in a given year. However, Duke is expected to
continue to contest remaining issues in the case, and so litigation in this and other pending cases will likely continue,
Depending on the ultimate resolution of these cases, demand for our coal could be affected, which could have an adverse
effect on our coal royalties revenues.

Carbon Dioxide Emissions. The Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change calls
for developed nations to reduce their emissions of greenhouse gases to 5% below 1990 levels by 2012. Carbon dioxide,
which is a major byproduct of the combustion of coal and other fossil fuels, is subject to the Kyoto Protocol. The Kyoto
Protocol went into effect on February 16, 2005 for those nations that ratified the treaty. In 2002, the United States withdrew
its support for the Kyoto Protocol, and the United States is not participating in this treaty, Since the Kyoto Protoco! became
effective, there has been increasing international pressure on the United States to adopt mandatory restrictions on carbon
dioxide emissions. In addition, on April 2, 2007 the United States Supreme Court held in Massachusetts v. EPA that unless
the EPA affirmatively concludes that greenhouse gases are not causing climate change, the EPA must regulate greenhouse
gas emissions from new automobiles under the CAA. The Supreme Court remanded the matter to the EPA for further
consideration. This litigation did not directly concern the EPA’s authority to regulate greenhouse gas emissions from
stationary sources, such as coal mining operations or coal-fired power plants. However, the Court’s decision is likely to
influence another lawsuit currently pending in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, involving a
challenge to the EPA’s decision not to regulate carbon dioxide from power plants and other stationary sources under a CAA
new source performance standard rule, which specifies emissions limits for new facilities, The court remanded that question
to EPA for further consideration in light of the ruling in Massachusetts v. EPA, but any decision in this case or any regulatory
action by the EPA limiting greenhouse gas emissions from power plants could impact the demand for our ceal, which could
have an adverse effect on our coal royalties revenues,

The permitting of a number of proposed new coal-fired power plants has also recently been contested by environmental
organizations for concerns related to greenhouse gas emissions from new plants. In October 2007, state regulators in Kansas
became the first to deny an air emissions construction permit for a new coal-fired power plant based on the plant’s projected
emissions of carbon dioxide. State regulatory authorities in Florida and North Carolina have also rejected the construction of
new coal-fired power plants based on the uncertainty surrounding the potential costs associated with greenhouse gas
emissions from these plants under future laws limiting the emission of carbon dioxide. In addition, permits for several new
coal-fired power plants without limits imposed on their greenhouse gas emissions have been appealed by environmental
organizations to the U.S. EPA’s Environmental Appeals Board.

Severai states have also either passed legislation or announced initiatives focused on decreasing or stabilizing carbon
dioxide emissions associated with the combustion of fossil fuels, and many of these measures have focused on emissions
from coal-fired electric generating facilities. For example, in December 2005, seven northeastern states agreed to implement
a regional cap-and-trade program, referred to as the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative, or the RGGI, to stabilize carbon
dioxide emissions from regional power plants beginning in 2009. This initiative aims to reduce emissions of carbon dioxide
to levels roughly corresponding to average annual emissions between 2000 and 2004. Massachusetts and Rhode Island
agreed to join this group in February 2007 and Maryland agreed to join the group in April 2007. The members of RGGI
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agreed to seek to establish in statute and/or regulation a carbon dioxide trading program and have each state’s component of
the regional program effective no later than December 31, 2008. Following the RGGI model, seven Western states have also
formed a regional greenhouse gas reduction initiative known as the Western Regional Climate Action Initiative, which calls
for an overall reduction of regional greenhouse gas emissions from major industrial and commercial sources in participating
states through trading of emissions credits beginning in 2012. Also, in 2006, the governor of California signed Assembly Bill
312 into law, requiring the California Air Resources Board to develop regulations and market mechanisms to reduce
California’s greenhouse gas emissions by 25% by 2020 with mandatory caps beginning in 2012 for significant sources.

Several different pieces of legislation were introduced in Congress in 2007 to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in the
United States. Such or similar federal legislation could be taken in 2008 or later years. It is possible that future federal and
state initiatives to control and put a price on carbon dioxide emissions could result in increased costs associated with coal
consumption, such as costs to install additional controls to reduce carbon dioxide emissions or costs to purchase emissions
reduction credits to comply with future emissions trading programs. Such increased costs for coal consumption could result
in some customers switching to alternative sources of fuel, which could negatively impact our lessees’ coal sales, and thereby
have an adverse effect on our coal royalties revenues.

Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977. The Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977, or
SMCRA, and similar state statutes establish minimum national operational, reclamation and closure standards for all aspects
of surface mining, as well as most aspects of deep mining. SMCRA requires that comprehensive environmental protection
and reclamation standards be met during the course of and following completion of mining activities. SMCRA also imposes
on mine operators the responsibility of restoring the land to its original state and compensating the landowner for types of
damages occurring as a result of mining operations, and require mine operators to post performance bonds to ensure
compliance with any reclamation obligations on the theory that we “owned” or “controlled” the mine operator in such a way
for liability to attach. Regulatory authorities may attempt to assign the liabilities of our coal lessees to another entity such as
us if any of our lessees are not financially capable of fulfitling those obligations. To our knowledge, no such claims have
been asserted against us to date. In conjunction with mining the property, our coal lessees are contractuatly obligated under
the terms of their leases to comply with all state and local laws, including SMCRA, with obligations including the
reclamation and restoration of the mined areas by grading, shaping and reseeding the soil. Upon completion of the mining,
reclamation generally is completed by seeding with grasses or planting trees for use as pasture or timberland, as specified in
the approved reclamation plan. Additionally, the Abandoned Mine Lands Program, which is part of SMCRA, imposes a tax
on all current mining operations, the proceeds of which are used to restore mines closed before 1977. The maximum tax is
31.5 cents per ton on surface-mined coal and 13.5 cents per ton on underground-mined coal. This tax was set to expire on
June 30, 2006, but the program was extended until September 30, 2021.

Federal and state laws require bonds to secure our lessees’ obligations to reclaim lands used for mining and to satisfy
other miscellaneous obligations. These bonds are typically renewable on a yearly basis. It has become increasingly difficult
for mining companies to secure new surety bonds without the posting of partial collateral. In addition, surety bond costs have
increased while the market terms of surety bonds have generally become less favorable. It is possible that surety bonds
issuers may refuse to renew bonds or may demand additional collateral upon those renewals. Any failure to maintain, or
inability to acquire, surety bonds that are required by state and federal laws would have a material adverse effect on our
lessees’ ability to produce coal, which could affect our coal royalties revenues.

Hazardous Materials and Wastes. The Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability
Act, or CERCLA, or the Superfund law, and analogous state laws, impose Hability, without regard to fault or the legality of
the original conduct, on certain classes of persons that are considered to have contributed to the release of a *hazardous
substance” into the environment, These persons include the owner or operator of the site where the release occurred and
companies that disposed or arranged for the disposal of the hazardous substances found at the site. Persons who are or were
responsible for releases of hazardous substances under CERCLA may be subject to joint and several liability for the costs of
cleaning up the hazardous substances that have been released into the environment and for damages to natural resources.

Some products used by coal companies in operations generate waste containing hazardous substances. We could
become liable under federal and state Superfund and waste management statutes if our tessees are unable to pay
environmental cleanup costs, CERCLA authorizes the EPA and, in some cases, third parties, to take actions in response to
threats to the public health or the environment and to seek recovery from the responsible classes of persons of the costs they
incurred in connection with such response. It is not uncommon for neighboring landowners and other third parties to file
claims for personal injury and property damage allegedly caused by hazardous substances or other wastes released into the
environment. The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, or RCRA, and corresponding state laws and regulations
exclude many mining wastes from the regulatory definition of hazardous wastes. Currently, the management and disposal of
coal combustion by-products are also not regulated at the federal level and not uniformly at the state level. Ifrules are
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adopted to regulate the management and disposal of these by-products, they could add additional costs to the use of coal as a
fuel and may encourage power plant operators to switch to a different fuel.

Clean Water Act. Our coal lessees’ operations are regulated under the Clean Water Act, or the CWA, with respect to
discharges of pollutants, including dredged or fill material into waters of the United States. Individual or general permits
under Section 404 of the CWA are required to conduct dredge or fill activities in jurisdictional waters of the United States.
Surface coal mining operators obtain these permits to authorize such activities as the creation of slurry ponds, stream
impoundments and valley fills. Uncertainty over what legally constitutes a navigable water of the United States within the
CWA’s regulatory scope may adversely impact the ability of our coal lessees to secure the necessary permits for their mining
activities. Some surface mining activities require a CWA Section 404 “dredge and fill”” permit under the CWA for valley
fills and the associated sediment control ponds. On June 5, 2007, in response to the U.S. Supreme Court’s divided opinion in
Rapanos v. United States, the EPA and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, or the Corps, issued joint guidance to EPA
regions and Corps districts interpreting the geographic extent of regulatory jurisdiction under Section 404 of the CWA.
Specifically, the guidance places jurisdictional water bodies into two groups: waters where the agencies will assert
regulatory jurisdiction “categorically” and waters where the agencies will assert jurisdiction on a case-by-case basis
following a “significant nexus analysis.” It remains to be seen how this guidance will affect the permitting process for
obtaining additional permits for valley fills and sediment ponds although it is likely to add uncertainty and delays in the
issuance of new permits. Some valley fill surface mining activities have the potential to impact headwater streams that are
not relatively permanent, which could therefore trigger a detailed “significant nexus analysis” to determine whether a Section
404 permit would be required. Such analyses could require the extensive collection of additional field data and could lead to
delays in the issuance of CWA Section 404 permits for valley fill surface mining operations.

Recent federal district court decisions in West Virginia, and related litigation filed in federal district court in Kentucky,
have created additional uncertainty regarding the future ability to obtain certain general permits authorizing the construction
of valley fills for the disposal of overburden from mining operations. The Corps is authorized by Section 404 of the CWA to
issue “nationwide” permits for specific categories of dredging and filling activities that are similar in nature and that are
determined to have minimal adverse environmental effects. Nationwide Permit 21 authorizes the disposal of dredged or fill
material from surface coal mining activities into the waters of the United States. A July 2004 decision by the Southemn
District of West Virginia in Ohio Valley Environmental Coalition v. Bulen enjoined the Huntington District of the Corps
from issuing further permits pursuant to Nationwide Permit 21. While the decision was vacated by the Fourth Circuit Court
of Appeals in November 2003, it has been remanded to the District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia for
further proceedings. Moreover, a similar lawsuit has been filed in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Kentucky
that seeks to enjoin the issuance of permits pursuant to Nationwide Permit 21 by the Louisville District of the Corps.

In the event similar lawsuits prove to be successful in adjoining jurisdictions, our lessees may be required to apply for
individual discharge permits pursuant to Section 404 of the CWA in areas where they would have otherwise utilized
Nationwide Permit 21. Such a change could result in delays in our lessees obtaining the required mining permits to conduct
their operations, which could in turn have an adverse effect on our coal royalties revenues.

Individual CWA Section 404 permits for valley fills associated with surface mining activities are also subject to certain
legal challenges and uncertainty. On September 22, 2005, in the case Ghio Valley Environmental Coalition (“OVEC”) v.
United States Army Corps of Engineers, environmental group plaintiffs filed suit in the U.S. District Court for the Southern
District of West Virginia challenging the Corps’ decision to issue individual CWA Section 404 permits for certain mining
projects. Alex Energy, Inc., or Alex Energy, a lessee of our that operates the Republic No. 2 Mine in Kanawha County, West
Virginia, intervened as a defendant in this litigation when the plaintiffs’ amended their complaint to add the December 22,
2005 individual CWA Section 404 permit for the Republic No. 2 Mine, or the Republic No. 2 Permit, On March 23, 2007,
the district court rescinded several challenged CWA Section 404 permits, including the Republic No. 2 Permit, and remanded
the permit applications to the Corps for further proceedings. In addition, the district court enjoined the permit holders,
including Alex Energy, from all activities authorized under the rescinded permits, As part of the OVEC litigation, the
environmental groups have also challenged the CWA Section 404 permit issued to Alex Energy for the Republic No. 1 Mine,
also located in Kanawha County, West Virginia,

On April 10, 2007, Alex Energy filed a notice of appeal of the March 23, 2007 ruling to the United States Court of
Appeals. On May 18, 2007, the Corps and the West Virginia Mining Association also filed notices of appeal as defendants.
On April 20, 2007, the district court granted a limited stay of its previous order to allow certain valley fills already partially
constructed where the receiving waters had been filled. This limited stay specifically allows Alex Energy to continue to use
Valley Fill No. 1 with respect to the Republic No. 2 Mine; however, construction of the other valley fills and sediment ponds
remain enjoined pending appeal. In December 2007, plaintiff environmental groups brought a similar suit against the
issuance of a CWA Section 404 permit for a surface coal mine in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Kentucky,
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alleging identical violations. The Corps has voluntarily suspended its consideration of the permit application in that case for
agency re-evaluation. While the final outcome of these cases remains uncertain, if the OVEC lawsuit ultimately limits or
prohibits the mining methods or operations of our lessees, it could have an adverse effect on our coal royalties revenues. In
addition, it is possible that similar litigation affecting recently issued, pending or future individual or general CWA Section
404 permits relevant to the mining and related operations of our lessees could adversely impact our coal royalties revenues,

Total Maximum Daily Load, or TMDL, regulations under the CWA establish a process to calculate the maximum
amount of a pollutant that a water body can receive and still meet state water quality standards and to allocate pollutant loads
among the point- and non-point pollutant sources discharging into that water body. This process applies to those waters that
states have designated as impaired (not meeting present water quality standards). Industrial dischargers, including coal
mines, discharging to such waters will be required to meet new TMDL load allocations for these stream segments. The
adoption of new TMDL-related allocations for streams to which our iessees’ coal mining operations discharge could require
more costly water treatment and could adversely affect our lessees’ coal production.

The CWA also requires states to develop anti-degradation policies to ensure non-impaired water bodies in the state do
not fali below applicable water quality standards. These and other regulatory developments may restrict our lessees’ ability
to develop new mines or could require our lessees to modify existing operations, which could have an adverse effect on our
coal business.

The Safe Drinking Water Act, or the SDWA, and its state equivalents affect coal mining operations by imposing
requirements on the underground injection of fine coal slurries, fly ash and flue gas scrubber sludge, and by requiring permits
to conduct such underground injection activities. In addition to establishing the underground injection control program, the
SDWA also imposes regulatory requirements on owners and operators of “public water systems.” This regulatory program
could impact our lessees’ reclamation operations where subsidence or other mining-related problems require the provision of
drinking water to affected adjacent homeowners.

Endangered Species Act. The Endangered Species Act and counterpart state legislation protect species threatened with
possible extinction. Protection of threatened and endangered species may have the effect of prohibiting or delaying our
lessees from obtaining mining permits and may include restrictions on timber harvesting, road building and other mining or
agricultural activities in areas containing the affected species or their habitats. A number of species indigenous to areas
where our properties are located are protected under the Endangered Species Act. Based on the species that have been
identified to date and the current application of applicable laws and regulations, however, we do not believe there are any
species protected under the Endangered Species Act that would materially and adversely affect our lessees’ ability to mine
coal from our properties in accordance with current mining plans.

Mine Health and Safety Laws. The operations of our coal lessees are subject to stringent health and safety standards that
have been imposed by federal legislation since the adoption of the Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969. The Mine Health
and Safety Act of 1969 resulted in increased operating costs and reduced productivity. The Mine Safety and Health Act of
1977, which significantly expanded the enforcement of health and safety standards of the Mine Health and Safety Act of
1969, imposes comprehensive health and safety standards on all mining operations. In addition, as part of the Mine Health
and Safety Acts of 1969 and 1977, the Black Lung Acts require payments of benefits by all businesses conducting current
mining operations to coal miners with black lung or pneumnoconiosis and to some beneficiaries of miners who have died from
this disease.

Recent mining accidents in West Virginia and Kentucky have received national attention and instigated responses at the
state and national level that are likely to result in increased scrutiny of current safety practices and procedures at all mining
operations, particularly underground mining operations. In January 2006, West Virginia passed a law imposing stringent
new mine safety and accident reporting requirements and increased civil and criminal penalties for violations of mine safety
laws. On March 7, 2006, New Mexico Governor Bill Richardson signed into law an expanded miner safety program
including more stringent requirements for accident reporting and the installation of additional mine safety equipment at
underground mines. Similarly, on Aprit 27, 2006, Kentucky Governor Ernie Fletcher signed mine safety legislation that
includes requirements for increased inspections of underground mines and additional mine safety equipment and authorizes
the assessment of penalties of up to $5,000 per incident for violations of mine ventilation or roof control requirements.

On June 15, 2006, the President signed the “Miner Act,” which was new mining safety legislation that mandates
improvements in mine safety practices, increases civil and criminal penalties for non-compliance, requires the creation of
additional mine rescue teams and expands the scope of federal oversight, inspection and enforcement activities. Pursuant to
the Miner Act, the Mine Safety Health Administration, or MSHA, has promulgated new emergency rules on mine safety and
revised MSHAs civil penalty assessment regulations, which resulted in an across-the-board increase in penalties from the
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existing regulations. These requirements may add significant costs to our lessees’ operations, particularly for underground
mines, and could affect the financial performance of our lessees’ operations.

Implementing and complying with these new laws and regulations could adversely affect our lessees’ coal production
and could therefore have an adverse effect on our coal royalties revenues and our ability to make distributions to our
unitholders.

Mining Permits and Approvals. Numerous governmental permits or approvals are required for mining operations. In
connection with obtaining these permits and approvals, our coal lessees may be required to prepare and present to federal,
state or locat authorities data pertaining to the effect or impact that any proposed production of coal may have upon the
environment. The requirements imposed by any of these authorities may be costly and time consuming and may delay
commencement or continuation of mining operations.

Under some circumstances, substantial fines and penalties, including revocation of mining permits, may be imposed
under the laws described above. Monetary sanctions and, in severe circumstances, criminal sanctions may be imposed for
failure to comply with these laws. Regulations also provide that a mining permit can be refused or revoked if the permit
applicant or permittee owns or controls, directly or indirectly through other entities, mining operations which have
outstanding environmental violations. Although, like other coal companies, our lessees’” have been cited for violations in the
ordinary course of business, to our knowledge, none of them have had one of their permits suspended or revoked because of
any violation, and the penalties assessed for these violations have not been material.

In order to obtain mining permits and approvals from state regulatory authorities, mine operators, including our lessees,
must submit a reclamation plan for restoring, upon the completion of mining operations, the mined property to its prior
condition, productive use or other permitted condition. Typically, our lessees submit the necessary permit applications
between 12 and 24 months before they plan to begin mining a new area. In our experience, permits generally are approved
within 12 months after a completed application is submitted. In the past, our lessees have generalty obtained their mining
permits without significant delay. Our lessees have obtained or applied for permits to mine a majority of the reserves that are
currently planned to be mined over the next five years. Our lessees are also in the planning phase for obtaining permits for
the additional reserves planned to be mined over the following five years. However, there are no assurances that they will not
experience difticulty in obtaining mining permits in the future. See ““—Coal and Natural Resource Management Segment—
Clean Water Act.”

OSHA. Our lessees and our own business are subject to the Occupationai Safety and Health Act, or OSHA, and
comparable state laws that regulate the protection of the health and safety of workers. In addition, the OSHA hazard
communication standard requires that information be maintained about hazardous materials used or produced in our
operations and that this information be provided to employees, state and local government authorities and citizens.

Natural Gas Midsiream Segment

General Regulation. Our natural gas gathering facilities generally are exempt from the Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission’s, or the FERC, jurisdiction under the Natural Gas Act of 1938, or the NGA, but FERC regulation nevertheless
could significantly affect our gathering business and the market for our services. In recent years, the FERC has pursued pro-
competitive policies in its regulation of interstate natural gas pipelines into which our gathering pipelines deliver. However,
we cannot assure you that the FERC will continue this approach as it considers matters such as pipeline rates and rules and
policies that may affect rights of access to natural gas transportation capacity.

For example, the FERC will assert jurisdiction over an affiliated gatherer that acts to benefit its pipeline affiliate in a
manner that is contrary to the FERC’s policies concerning jurisdictional services adopted pursuant to the NGA. In addition,
natural gas gathering may receive greater regulatory scrutiny at both the state and federal levels now that the FERC has taken
a less stringent approach to regulation of the gathering activities of interstate pipeline transmission companies and a number
of such companies have transferred gathering facilities to unregulated affiliates. Our gathering operations could be adversely
affected should they be subject in the future to the application of state or federal regulation of rates and services. Qur
gathering operations also may be or become subject to safety and operational regulations relating to the design, installation,
testing, construction, operation, replacement and management of gathering facilities. Additional rules and legislation
pertaining to these matters are considered or adopted from time to time. We cannot predict what effect, if any, such changes
might have on our natural gas midstream operations, but the industry could be required to incur additional capital
expenditures and increased costs depending on future legislative and regulatory changes.




In Texas, our gathering facilities are subject to regulation by the Texas Railroad Commission, which has the authonity to
ensure that rates, terms and conditions of gas utilities, including certain gathering facilities, are just and reasonable and not
discriminatory. Our operations in Oklahoma are regulated by the Oklahoma Corporation Commission, which prohibits us
from charging any unduly discriminatory fees for our gathering services. We cannot predict whether our gathering rates will
be found to be unjust, unreasonable or unduly discriminatory.

We are subject to ratable take and common purchaser statutes in Texas and Oklahoma. Ratable take statutes generally
require gatherers to take, without undue discrimination, natural gas production that may be tendered to the gatherer for
handling. Similarly, common purchaser statutes generally require gatherers to purchase without undue disctimination as to
source of supply or producer. These statutes have the effect of restricting our right as an owner of gathering facilities to
decide with whom we contract to purchase or transport natural gas. Federal law leaves any economic regulation of natural
gas gathering to the states, and Texas and Oklahoma have adopted complaint-based regulation that generally allows natural
gas producers and shippers to file complaints with state regulators in an effort to resolve grievances relating to natural gas
gathering rates and access. We cannot assure you that federal and state authorities will retain their current regulatory policies
in the future.

Texas and Oklahoma administer federal pipeline safety standards under the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1968, or
the NGPSA, which requires certain pipelines to comply with safety standards in constructing and operating the pipelines, and
subjects pipelines to regular inspections. In response to recent pipeline accidents, Congress and the U.S. Department of
Transportation have instituted heightened pipeline safety requirements. Certain of our gathering facilities are exempt from
these federal pipeline safety requirements under the rural gathering exemption. We cannot assure you that the rural gathering
exemption will be retained in its current form in the future.

Failure to comply with applicable regulations under the NGA, the NGPSA and certain state laws can result in the
imposition of administrative, civil and criminal remedies.

Air Emissions. Our natural gas midstream operations are subject to the CAA and comparable state laws and regulations.
See “—Coal and Natural Resource Management Segment—Air Emissions.” These laws and regulations govern emissions of
pollutants into the air resulting from the activities of our processing plants and compressor stations and also impose
procedural requirements on how we conduct our natural gas midstream operations. Such laws and regulations may include
requirements that we obtain pre-approval for the construction or modification of certain projects or facilities expected to
produce air emissions, strictly comply with the emissions and operational limitations of air emissions permits we are required
to obtain or utilize specific equipment or technologies to control emissions. Our failure to comply with these requirements
could subject us to monetary penalties, injunctions, conditions or restrictions on operations, and potentially criminal
enforcement actions. We will be required to incur certain capital expenditures in the future for air pollution controt
equipment in connection with obtaining and maintaining operating permits and approvals for air emissions.

Hazardous Materials and Wastes. Our natural gas midstream operations could incur liability under CERCLA and
comparable state laws resulting from the disposal or other release of hazardous substances or wastes originating from
properties we own or operate, regardless of whether such disposal or release occurred during or prior to our acquisition of
such properties. See “—Coal and Natural Resource Management Segment—Hazardous Materials and Waste.” Although
petroleum, including natural gas and NGLs are generally excluded from CERCLA’s definition of “hazardous substance,” our
natural gas midstream operations do generate wastes in the course of ordinary operations that may fall within the definition of
a “hazardous substance.”

Our natural gas midstream operations generate wastes, including some hazardous wastes, which are subject to RCRA
and comparable state laws. However, RCRA currently exempts many natural gas gathering and field processing wastes from
classification as hazardous waste. Specifically, RCRA excludes from the definition of hazardous waste produced waters and
other wastes associated with the exploration, development or production of crude oil, natural gas or geothermal energy.
Unrecovered petroleum product wastes, however, may still be regulated under RCRA as solid waste. Moreover, ordinary
industrial wastes such as paint wastes, waste solvents, laboratory wastes and waste compressor oils may be regulated as
hazardous waste. The transportation of natural gas and NGLs in pipelines may also generate some hazardous wastes.
Although we believe that it is unlikely that the RCRA exemption will be repealed in the near future, repeal would increase
costs for waste disposal and environmental remediation at our facilities.

We currently own or lease numerous properties that for many years have been used for the measurement, gathering, field
compression and processing of natural gas and NGLs. Although we believe that the operators of such properties used
operating and disposal practices that were standard in the industry at the time, hydrocarbons or wastes may have been
disposed of or released on or under such properties or on or under other locations where such wastes have been taken for
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disposal. These properties and the substances disposed or released on them may be subject to CERCLA, RCRA and
analogous state laws. Under such laws, we could be required to remove or remediate previously disposed wastes (including
waste disposed of or released by prior owners or operators) or property contamination (including groundwater contamination,
whether from prior owners or operators or other historic activities or spills) or to perform remedial plugging or pit closure
operations to prevent future contamination. We have ongoing remediation projects underway at several sites, but we do not
believe that the costs associated with such cleanups will have a material adverse impact on our operations or revenues.

Water Discharges. Our natural gas midstream operations are subject to the CWA. See “—Coal and Natural Resource
Management Segment—Clean Water Act.” Any unpermitted release of pollutants, including NGLs or condensates, from our
systems or facilities could result in fines or penalties as well as significant remedial obligations.

OSHA. Our natural gas midstream operations are subject to OSHA. See “—Coal and Natural Resource Management
Segment—OSHA.”

Employees and Labor Relations

We do not have employees. To carry out our operations, our general partner and its affiliates employed 129 employees
who directly supported our operations at December 31, 2007, Qur general partner considers current employee relations to be
favorable.

Available Information

Our internet address is http://www.pvresource.com. We make available free of charge on or through our internet website
our Corporate Govemance Principles, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Executive and Financial Officer Code of Ethics
and Audit Committee Charter, and we will provide copies of such documents to any unitholder who so requests. We also
make available free of charge on or through our website our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form §-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such
material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. All references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
to the “NYSE" refer to the New York Stock Exchange, and all reference to the “SEC” refer to the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Common Abbreviations and Definitions

The following are abbreviations and definitions commonly used in the coal and oil and gas industries that are used in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

1211) OO PO Y T OO a standard barrel of 42 U.S. gallons liquid volume

Bef .o one billion cubic feet

Befe...occooiiiiriiecerenenirercinicisisrenene. 0N billion cubic feet equivalent with one barrel of oil or condensate converted
to six thousand cubic feet of natural gas based on the estimated relative energy
content

BTU .o British thermal unit

Mbbl ..o one thousand barrels

Mbf ... one thousand board feet

Mef e one thousand cubic feet

Mefe ..o one thousand cubic feet equivalent

MMBbbl.....ooivieiiiiiinn, one million barrels

MMBbf. ..o, one million board feet
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MMBEU e one million British thermal units

MMef .o one million cubic feet

MMefd ..o one million cubic feet per day

MMefe ..o one million cubic feet equivalent

NGL e natural gas liquid

NYMEX.....ccmivrvinrrvvisnierrene. - New York Mercantile Exchange

Probable coal reserves ........ooveeeeeneen. those reserves for which quantity and grade and/or quality are computed from

information similar to that used for proven reserves, but the sites for inspection,
sampling and measurement are farther apart or are otherwise less adequately
spaced. The degree of assurance, although lower than that for proven reserves,
is high enough to assume continuity between points of observation

Proved 1€Serves..........covvvcrrrerennencne those estimated quantities of crude oil, condensate and natural gas that
geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be
recoverable in future years from known oil and gas reservoirs under existing
economic and operating conditions at the end of the respective years

Proven coal reserves.........occeceeninnnnne those reserves for which: (a) quantity is computed from dimensions revealed in
outcrops, trenches, workings or drill holes; grade and/or quality are computed
from the results of detailed sampling; and (b) the sites for inspection, sampling
and measurement are spaced so closely, and the geologic character is so well
defined, that the size, shape, depth and mineral content of reserves are well-
established

Item 1A Risk Factors

Our business and operations are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties as described below. However, the risks
and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of,
or that we may currently deem immaterial, may become important factors that harm our business, financial condition or
results of operations. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations

could suffer.
Risks Inherent in an Investment in Us

The amount of cash that we will be able to distribute on our common units principally depends upon the amount of cash we
generate from our coal and natural resource management and natural gas midstream businesses.

Under the terms of our partnership agreement, we must pay our general partner’s expenses and set aside any cash reserve
amounts before making a distribution to our unitholders. The amount of cash that we will be able to distribute each quarter to
our partners principally depends upon the amount of cash we can generate from our coal and natural resource management
and natural gas midstream businesses. The amount of cash we will generate will fluctuate from quarter to quarter based on,
among other things:

o the amount of coal our lessees are able to produce;

o the price at which our lessees are able to sell the coal;

«  our lessees’ timely receipt of payment from their customers;

« the amount of natural gas transported in our gathering systems;

« the amount of throughput in our processing plants;

¢ the price of natural gas;
« the price of NGLs;
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« the relationship between natural gas and NGL prices;
» the fees we charge and the margins we realize for our natural gas midstream services; and
«  our hedging activities.

In addition, the actual amount of cash that we will have available for distribution will depend on other factors, some of
which are beyond our control, including:

» the level of capital expenditures we make;

« the cost of acquisitions, if any;

«  our debt service requirements;

« fluctuations in our working capital needs;

«  restrictions on distributions contained in our debt agreements;
+  prevailing economic conditions; and

+ the amount of cash reserves established by our general partner in its sole discretion for the proper conduct of our
business.

Because of these factors, we may not have sufficient available cash each quarter to continue paying distributions at their
current level or at all. The amount of cash that we have available for distribution depends primarily upon our cash flow,
including cash flow from financial reserves and working capital borrowings, and is not solely a function of profitability,
which will be affected by non-cash items. As a result, we may make cash distributions during periods when we record losses
and may not make cash distributions during periods when we record profits.

While we may incur debt to pay distributions to our unitholders, the agreements governing such debt may restrict or limit
the distributions we can pay to our unitholders.

While we are permitted by our partnership agreements to incur debt to pay distributions to our unitholders, our payment
of principal and interest on such indebtedness will reduce our cash available for distribution on our unitholders. Furthermore,
our debt agreements, including our revolving credit facility and senior notes, contain covenants limiting our ability to incur
indebtedness, grant liens, engage in transactions with affiliates and make distributions to our partners. They also contain
covenants requiring us not to exceed certain specified financial ratios. We are prohibited from making any distribution to our
partners if such distribution would cause an event of default or otherwise violate a covenant under these agreements. See
Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital
Resources—Long-Term Debt,” for more information about our revolving credit facility and senior notes.

Our unitholders do not elect our general partner or vote on our general partner’s directors. The owner of our general
partner owns a sufficient number of common units to allow it to prevent the removal of our general parmer.

Unlike the holders of common stock in a corporation, cur unitholders have only limited voting rights on matters affecting
our business and, therefore, limited ability to influence management’s decisions regarding our business. Our unitholders do
not have the ability to elect our general partner or the directors of our general partner and will have no right to elect our
general partner or the directors of our general partner on an annual or other continuing basis in the future. The board of
directors of our general partner, including our independent directors, is chosen by PVG, its sole member. Furthermore, if our
public unitholders are dissatisfied with the performance of our general partner, they will have little ability to remove our
general partner, Qur general partner may not be removed except upon the vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the
outstanding common units. Because PVG owns more than one-third of our outstanding units, our general partner currently
cannot be removed without its consent. As a result of these provisions, the price at which our common units will trade may
be lower because of the absence or reduction of a takeover premium in the trading price.

Our general partner may cause us to issue additional common units or other equity securities without your approval,
which would dilute your ownership inferests.

Our general partner may cause us to issue an unlimited number of additional commeon units or other equity securities of

equal rank with the common units, without unitholder approval. The issuance of additional common units or other equity
securities of equal rank will have the following effects:
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+ our unitholders’ proportionate ownership interest in us will decrease;

» the amount of cash available for distribution on each common unit may decrease;

+ the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding common unit may be diminished,
« the ratio of taxable income to distributions may increase; and

« the market price of the commeon units may decline.

The control of our general partner may be transferred to a third party who could replace our current management team, in
either case, without unitholder consent.

Our general partner may transfer its general partner interest to a third party in a merger or in a sale of all or substantially
all of its assets without the consent of our unitholders. Furthermore, PVG, the owner of our general partner, may transfer its
ownership interest in our general partner to a third party. The new owner of our general partner would then be in a position
to replace the board of directors and officers of our general partner and to control the decisions taken by the board of
directors and officers,

You may not have limited liability if a court finds that unitholder action constitutes control of our business.

Under Delaware law, you could be held liable for our obligations to the same extent as a general partner if a court
determined that the right or the exercise of the right by our unitholders as a group to remove or replace our general partner, to
approve some amendments to the partnetship agreement or to take other action under our partnership agreement constituted
participation in the “control” of our business. Additionally, the limitations on the liability of holders of limited partner
interests for the liabilities of a limited partnership have not been clearly established in many jurisdictions.

Furthermore, Section 17-607 of the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act provides that, under some
circumstances, a unitholder may be liable to us for the amount of a distribution for a period of three years from the date of the
distribution.

Our partnership agreement restricts the rights of unitholders owning 20%6 or more of our units.

Qur unitholders’ voting rights are restricted by the provision in our partnership agreement generally providing that any
units held by a person that owns 20% or more of any class of units then outstanding, other than our general partner, its
affiliates, their transferees and persons who acquired such units with the prior approval of the board of directors of the
general partner, cannot be voted on any matter. In addition, our partnership agreement contains provisions limiting the
ability of our unitholders to call meetings or to acquire information about our operations, as well as other provisions limiting
our unitholders’ ability to influence the manner or direction of our management. As a result, the price at which our common
units will trade may be lower because of the absence or reduction of a takeover premium in the trading price.

We may issue additional limited partner interests or other equity securities, which may increase the risk that we will not
have sufficient available cash to maintain or increase our cash distribution level.

We have wide latitude to issue additional limited partner interests on the terms and conditions established by our general
partner. If we have to pay distributions on additional limited partner interests, we may not be able to maintain or increase our
quarterly cash distribution per unit.

Risks Related to Our Coal and Natural Resource Management Business

If our lessees do not manage their operations well, their production volumes and our coal royalties revenues could
decrease.

We depend on our lessees to effectively manage their operations on our properties. Our lessees make their own business
decisions with respect to their operations, including decisions relating to:

» the method of mining;
» credit review of their customers;

» marketing of the coal mined;
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« coal transportation arrangements;

« negotiations with unions;

« employee hiring and firing;

o employee wages, benefits and other compensation;
s permitting;

« surety bonding; and

« mine closure and reclamation.

If our lessees do not manage their operations well, their production could be reduced, which would result in lower coal
royalties revenues to us and could adversely affect our ability to make our quarterly distributions.

The coal mining operations of our lessees are subject to numerous operational risks that could result in lower coal
rovaities revenues.

Our coal royalties revenues are largely dependent on the level of production from our coal reserves achieved by our
lessees, The level of our lessees’ production is subject to operating conditions or events that may increase our lessees’ cost of
mining and delay or halt production at particular mines for varying lengths of time and that are beyond their or our control,
including;

« the inability to acquire necessary permits;

« changes or variations in geologic conditions, such as the thickness of the coal deposits and the amount of rock
embedded in or overlying the coal deposit;

« changes in governmental regulation of the coal industry;

« mining and processing equipment failures and unexpected maintenance problems;

« adverse claims to title or existing defects of title;

+ interruptions due to power outages;

« adverse weather and natural disasters, such as heavy rains and flooding;

« labor-related interruptions;

+ employee injuries or fatalities; and

+ fires and explosions.

Any interruptions to the production of coal from our reserves could reduce our coal royalties revenues and adversely
affect our ability to make our quarterly distributions. In addition, our coal royalties revenues are based upon sales of coal by
our lessees to their customers. If our lessees do not receive payments for delivered coal on a timely basis from their

customers, their cash flow would be adversely affected, which could cause our cash flow to be adversely affected and could
adversely affect our ability to make our quarterly distributions.

A substantial or extended decline in coal prices could reduce our coal royalties revenues and the value of our coal
reserves.
L 4
A substantial or extended decline in coal prices from recent levels could have a material adverse effect on our lessees’

operations (including mine closures) and on the quantities of coal that may be economically produced from our properties.
This, in turn, could reduce our coal royalties revenues, our coal services revenues and the value of our coal reserves.
Additionally, volatility in coal prices could make it difficult to estimate with precision the value of our coal reserves and any
coal reserves that we may consider for acquisition.

We depend on a limited number of primary operators for a significant portion of our coal royalties revenues and the loss of
or reduction in production from any of our major lessees would reduce our coal royalties revenues.

We depend on a limited number of primary operators for a significant portion of our coal royalties revenues. In 2007,
five primary operators, each with multiple leases, accounted for 65% of our coal royalties revenues and 11% of our total
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consolidated revenues. If any of these operators enters bankruptcy or decides to cease operations or significantly reduces its
preduction, our coal royalties revenues would be reduced.

A failure on the part of our lessees to make coal royalty payments could give us the right to terminate the lease, repossess
the property or obtain liquidation damages and/or enforce payment obligations under the lease. If we repossessed any of our
properties, we would seek to find a replacement lessee. We may not be able to find a replacement lessee and, if we find a
replacement lessee, we may not be able to enter into a new lease on favorable terms within a reasonable period of time. In
addition, the outgoing lessee could be subject to bankruptey proceedings that could further delay the execution of a new lease
or the assignment of the existing lease to another operator. If we enter into a new lease, the replacermnent operator might not
achieve the same levels of production or sell coal at the same price as the lessee it replaced. In addition, it may be difficult
for us to secure new or replacement lessees for small or isolated coal reserves, since industry trends toward consolidation
favor larger-scale, higher technology mining operations to increase productivity rates.

Qur coal business will be adversely affected if we are unable to replace or increase our coal reserves through acquisitions.

Because our reserves decline as our lessees mine our coal, our future success and growth depends, in part, upon our
ability to acquire additional coal reserves that are economically recoverable. If we are unable to negotiate purchase contracts
to replace or increase our coal reserves on acceptable terms, our coal royalties revenues will decline as our coal reserves are
depleted. In addition, if we are unable to successfully integrate the companies, businesses or properties we are able to
acquire, our coal royalties revenues may decline and we could, therefore, experience a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operations. If we acquire additional coal reserves, there is a possibility that any
acquisition could be dilutive to earmnings and reduce our ability to make distributions to unitholders or to pay interest on, or
the principal of, our debt obligations. Any debt we incur to finance an acquisition may similarly affect our ability to make
distributions to unitholders or to pay interest on, or the principal of, our debt obligations. Our ability to make acquisitions in
the future also could be limited by restrictions under our existing or future debt agreements, competition from other coal
companies for attractive properties or the lack of suitable acquisition candidates.

Our lessees could satisfv obligations to their customers with coal from properties other than ours, depriving us of the
ability to receive amounts in excess of the minimum coal rovalties payments.

We do not control our lessees’ business operations. Our lessees’ customer supply contracts do not generally require our
lessees to satisfy their obligations to their customers with coal mined from our reserves. Several factors may influence a
lessee’s decision to supply its customers with coal mined from properties we do not own or lease, including the royalty rates
under the lessee’s lease with us, mining conditions, transportation costs and availability and customer coal quality
specifications. If a lessee satisfies its obligations to its customers with coal from properties we do not own or lease,
production under our lease will decrease, and we will receive lower coal royalties revenues.

Fluctuations in transportation costs and the availability or reliability of transportation could reduce the production of coal
mined from our properties.

Transportation costs represent a significant portion of the total cost of coal for the customers of our lessees. Increases in
transportation costs could make coal a less competitive source of energy or could make coal produced by some or all of our
lessees less competitive than coal produced from other sources. On the other hand, significant decreases in transportation
costs could result in increased competition for our lessees from coal producers in other parts of the country or increased
imports from offshore producers.

Our lessees depend upon rail, barge, trucking, overland conveyor and other systems to deliver coal to their customers.
Disruption of these transportation services due to weather-related problems, strikes, lockouts, bottlenecks, mechanical
failures and other events could temporarily impair the ability of our lessees to supply coal to their customers. Our lessees’
transportation providers may face difficulties in the future and impair the ability of our lessees to supply coal to their
customers, thereby resulting in decreased coal royalties revenues to us.

Our lessees could experience labor disruptions, and our lessees' workforces could become increasingly unionized in the
Sfuture.

Two of our lessees each has one mine operated by unionized employees. One of the mines operated by unionized
employees was our second largest mine on the basis of coal production as of December 31, 2007. All of our lessees could
become increasingly unionized in the future. If some or all of our lessees’ non-unionized operations were to become
unionized, it could adversely affect their productivity and increase the risk of work stoppages. In addition, our lessees’
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operations may be adversely affected by work stoppages at unicnized companies, particularly if union workers were to
orchestrate boycotts against our lessees’ operations. Any further unionization of our lessees’ employees could adversely
affect the stability of production from our coal reserves and reduce our coal royalties revenues.

Qur coal reserve estimates depend on many assumptions that may be inaccurate, which could materially adversely affect
the quantities and value of our coal reserves.

Qur estimates of our coal reserves may vary substantially from the actual amounts of coal our lessees may be able to
economically recover. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of reserves, including many factors
beyond our control. Estimates of coal reserves necessarily depend upon a number of variables and assumptions, any one of
which may, if incorrect, result in an estimate that varies considerably from actual results. These factors and assumptions
relate to:

+ geological and mining conditions, which may not be fully identified by available exploration data;
+ the amount of ultimately recoverable coal in the ground;
e the effects of regulation by governmental agencies; and

« future coal prices, operating costs, capital expenditures, severance and excise taxes and development and
reclamation costs,

Actual production, revenues and expenditures with respect to our coal reserves will likely vary from estimates, and these
variations may be material. As a result, you should not place undue reliance on the coal reserve data provided by us.

Any change in fuel consumption patterns by electric power generators away from the use of coal could affect the ability of
our lessees to sell the coal they produce and thereby reduce our coal royalties revenues.

According to the U.S. Department of Energy, domestic electric power generation accounts for approximately 90% of
domestic coal consumption. The amount of coal consumed for domestic electric power generation is affected primarily by
the overall demand for electricity, the price and availability of competing fuels for power plants such as nuclear, natural gas,
fuel oil and hydroelectric power and environmental and other governmental regulations. We believe that most new power
plants will be built to produce electricity during peak periods of demand. Many of these new power plants will likely be fired
by natural gas because of lower construction costs compared to coal-fired plants and because natural gas is a cleaner burning
fuel. The increasingly stringent requirements of the CAA may result in more electric power generators shifting from coal to
natural gas-fired power plants. See ltem 1, “Business—Government Regulation and Environmental Matters—Coal and
Natural Resource Management Segment—Air Emissions.”

Extensive environmental laws and regulations affecting electric power generators could have corresponding effects on the
ability of our lessees to sell the coal they produce and thereby reduce our coal royalties revenues.

Federal, state and local laws and regulations extensively regulate the amount of sulfur dioxide, particulate matter,
nitrogen oxides, mercury and other compounds emitted into the air from electric power plants, which are the ultimate
consumers of the coal our lessees produce. These laws and regulations can require significant emission control expenditures
for many coal-fired power plants, and various new and proposed laws and regulations may require further emission
reductions and associated emission controt expenditures. There is also continuing pressure on state and federal regulators to
impose limits on carbon dioxide emissions from electric power plants, particularly coal-fired power piants. As a result of
these current and proposed laws, regulations and trends, electricity generators may elect to switch to other fuels that generate
less of these emissions, possibly further reducing demand for the coal that our lessees produce and thereby reducing our coal
royalties revenues. See Item 1, “Business—Government Regulation and Environmental Matters—Coal and Natural
Resource Management Segment—Air Emissions.”

Delays in our lessees obtaining mining permits and approvals, or the inability to obtain required permits and approvals,
could have an adverse effect on our coal royalties revenues.

Mine operators, including our lessees, must obtain numerous permits and approvals that impose strict conditions and
obligations relating to various environmental and safety matters in connection with coal mining. The permitting rules are
complex and can change over time. The public has the right to comment on many permit applications and otherwise
participate in the permitting process, including through court intervention. Accordingly, permits required by our lessees to
conduct operations may not be issued, maintained or renewed, may not be issued or renewed in a timely fashion, or may
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involve requirements that restrict our lessees’ ability to economically conduct their mining operations, Limitations on our
lessees’ ability to conduct their mining operations due to the inability to obtain or renew necessary permits, or due to
uncertainty, litigation or delays associated with the eventual issuance of these permits, could have an adverse effect on our
coal royalties revenues. See Item 1, “Business—Government Regulation and Environmental Matters—Coal and Natural
Resource Management Segment—Mining Permits and Approvals.”

Uncertainty over the precise parameters of the Clean Water Act’s regulatory scope and a recent federal district court
decision may adversely impact our coal lessees’ ability to secure the necessary permits for their valley fill surface mining
activities.

To dispose of mining overburden generated from surface mining activities, our lessees often need to obtain government
approvals, including Clean Water Act Section 404 permits to construct valley fills and sediment control ponds. Ongoing
uncertainty over which waters are subject to the Clean Water Act may adversely impact our lessees’ ability to secure these
necessary permits. In addition, a recent decision by a United States District Court in West Virginia invalidated a permit
issued to one of our lessees for the Republic No. 2 Mine and enjoined our lessee, Alex Energy, Inc., from taking any further
actions under this permit. Although this ruling has been appeated, uncertainty over the correct legal standard for issuing
Section 404 permits may lead to rulings invalidating other permits, additional challenges to various permits and additional
delays and costs in applying for and obtaining new permits. Unless this decision is overturned or further limited in
subsequent proceedings, the ruling and its collateral consequences could ultimately have an adverse effect on our coal
royalties revenues. See Item 1, “Business—Government Regulation and Environmental Matters—Coal and Natural
Resource Management Segment—Clean Water Act,” for more information about the litigation described above.

Our lessees’ mining operations are subject to extensive and costly laws and regulations, which could increase operating
costs and limit our lessees’ ability to produce coal, which could have an adverse effect on our coal royalties revenues.

Our lessees are subject to numerous and detailed federal, state and local laws and regulations affecting coal mining
operations, including laws and regulations pertaining to employee health and safety, permitting and licensing requirements,
air quality standards, water pollution, plant and wildlife protection, reclamation and restoration of mining propertics after
mining is completed, the discharge of materials into the environment, surface subsidence from underground mining and the
effects that mining has on groundwater quality and availability. Numerous governmental permits and approvals are required
for mining operations. Our lessees are required to prepare and present to federal, state or local authorities data pertaining to
the effect or impact that any proposed exploration for or production of coal may have upon the environment. The costs,
liabilities and requirements associated with these regulations may be significant and time-consuming and may delay
commencement or continuation of exploration or production operations. The possibility exists that new laws or regulations
(or judicial interpretations of existing laws and regulations) may be adopted in the future that could materially affect our
lessees’ mining operations, either through direct impacts such as new requirements impacting our lessees’ existing mining
operations, or indirect impacts such as new laws and regulations that discourage or limit coal consumers” use of coal. Any of
these direct or indirect impacts could have an adverse effect on our coal royalties revenues. See Item 1, “Business—
Government Regulation and Environmental Matters—Coal and Natural Resource Management Segment.”

Because of extensive and comprehensive regulatory requirements, violations during mining operations are not unusual in
the industry and, notwithstanding compliance efforts, we do not believe violations by our lessees can be eliminated
completely. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in the assessment of administrative, civil and
criminal penalties, the imposition of cleanup and site restoration costs and liens and, to a lesser extent, the issuance of
injunctions to limit or cease operations. Qur lessees may also incur costs and liabilities resulting from claims for damages to
property or injury to persons arising from their operations. If our lessees are required to pay these costs and liabilities and if
their financial viability is affected by doing so, then their mining operations and, as a result, our coal royalties revenues and
our ability to make distributions, could be adversely affected.

Recent mining accidents in West Virginia and Kentucky have received national attention and instigated responses at the
state and national level that have resulted in increased scrutiny of current safety practices and procedures at all mining
operations, particularly underground mining operations. See Item 1, “Business—Government Regulation and Environmental
Matters—Coal and Natural Resource Management Segment—Mine Health and Safety Laws,” for a more detailed discussion
of recently enacted legislation that addresses mine safety equipment, training and emergency reporting requirements.
Implementing and complying with these new laws and regulations could adversely affect our lessees’ coal production and
could therefore have an adverse effect on our coal royalties revenues and our ability to make distributions.
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Risks Related to Qur Natural Gas Midstream Business

The success of our natural gas midstream business depends upon our ability to find and contract for new sources of
natural gas supply.

In order to maintain or increase system throughput levels on our gathering systems and asset utilization rates at our
processing plants, we must contract for new natural gas supplies. The primary factors affecting our ability to connect new
supplies of natural gas to our gathering systems include the level of drilling activity creating new gas supply near our
gathering systems, our success in contracting for existing natural gas supplies that are not committed to other systems and our
ability to expand and increase the capacity of our systems. We may not be able to obtain additional contracts for natural gas
supplies.

Fluctuations in energy prices can greatly affect production rates and investments by third parties in the development of
new oil and natural gas reserves. Drilling activity generally decreases as oil and natural gas prices decrease. We have no
control over the level of drilling activity in our areas of operations, the amount of reserves underlying the wells and the rate at
which production from a well will decline. In addition, we have no control over producers or their production decisions,
which are affected by, among other things, prevailing and projected energy prices, demand for hydrocarbons, the level of
reserves, geological considerations, governmental regulation and the availability and cost of capital.

Our natural gas midstream assets, including our gathering systems and processing plants, are connected to natural gas
reserves and wells for which the production will naturally decline over time. Our cash flows associated with these systems
will decline unless we are able to secure new supplies of natural gas by connecting additional production to these systems. A
material decrease in natural gas production in our areas of operation, as a result of depressed commaodity prices or otherwise,
would result in a decline in the volume of natural gas we handle, which would reduce our revenues and operating income. In
addition, our future growth will depend, in part, upon whether we can contract for additional supplies at a greater rate than
the rate of natural decline in our currently connected supplies.

The profitability of our natural gas midstream business is dependent upon prices and market demand for natural gas and
NGLs, which are beyond our control and have been volatile.

We are subject to significant risks due to fluctuations in natural gas commodity prices. During 2007, we generated a
majority of our gross processing margin from two types of contractual arrangements under which our margin is exposed to
increases and decreases in the price of natural gas and NGLs—percentage-of-proceeds and gas purchase/keep-whole
arrangements. See Item 1, “Business—Contracts—Natural Gas Midstream Segment.”

Virtually all of the natural gas gathered on our Crescent System and Hamlin System is contracted under percentage-of-
proceeds arrangements. The natural gas gathered on our Beaver System is contracted primarily under either percentage-of
proceeds or gas purchase/keep-whole arrangements. Under both types of arrangements, we provide gathering and processing
services for natural gas received. Under percentage-of-proceeds arrangements, we generally sell the NGLs produced from
the processing operations and the remaining residue gas at market prices and remit to the producers an agreed upon
percentage of the proceeds based upon an index price for the gas and the price received for the NGLs. Under these
arrangements, revenues and gross margins decline when natural gas prices and NGL prices decrease. Accordingly, a
decrease in the price of natural gas or NGLs could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. Under gas
purchase/keep-whole arrangements, we generally buy natural gas from producers based upon an index price and then sell the
NGLs and the remaining residue gas to third parties at market prices. Because the extraction of the NGLs from the natural
gas during processing reduces the volume of natural gas available for sale, profitability is dependent on the value of those
NGLs being higher than the value of the volume of gas reduction or “shrink.” Under these arrangements, revenues and gross
margins decrease when the price of natural gas increases relative to the price of NGLs. Accordingly, a change in the
relationship between the price of natural gas and the price of NGLs could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations.

In the past, the prices of natural gas and NGLs have been extremely volatile, and we expect this volatility to continue.
The markets and prices for residue gas and NGLs depend upon factors beyond our control. These factors include demand for
oil, natural gas and NGLs, which fluctuates with changes in market and economic conditions, and other factors, including:

« the impact of weather on the demand for oil and natural gas;

« the level of domestic oil and natural gas production;

« the availability of imported oil and natural gas;
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» actions taken by foreign oil and gas producing nations;

« the availability of local, intrastate and interstate transportation systems;
« the availability and marketing of competitive fuels;

» the impact of energy conservation efforts; and

« the extent of governmental regulation and taxation.

Acquisitions and expansions may affect our business by substantially increasing the level of our indebtedness and
contingent liabilities and increasing the risks of being unable to effectively integrate these new operations.

From time to time, we evaluate and acquire assets and businesses that we believe complement our existing operations.
We may encounter difficulties integrating these acquisitions with our existing businesses without a loss of employees or
customers, a loss of revenues, an increase in operating or other costs or other difficulties. In addition, we may not be able to
realize the operating efficiencies, competitive advantages, cost savings or other benefits expected from these acquisitions.
Future acquisitions may require substantial capital or the incurrence of substantial indebtedness. As a result, our
capitalization and results of operations may change significantly following an acquisition. Future acquisitions might not
generate increases in our cash distributions to our unitholders.

Expanding our natural gas midstream business by constructing new gathering systems, pipelines and processing facilities
subjects us to construction risks.

One of the ways we may grow our natural gas midstream business is through the construction of additions to existing
gathering, compression and processing systems. The construction of a new gathering system or pipeline, the expansion of an
existing pipeline through the addition of new pipe or compression and the construction of new processing facilities involve
numerous regulatory, environmental, political and legal uncertainties beyond our control and require the expenditure of
significant amounts of capital. If we undertake these projects, they may not be completed on schedule, or at all, or at the
budgeted cost. Moreover, our revenues may not increase immediately upon the expenditure of funds on a particular project.
For example, the construction of gathering facilities requires the expenditure of significant amounts of capital, which may
exceed our estimates. Generally, we may have only limited natural gas supplies committed to these facilities prior to their
construction. Moreover, we may construct facilities to capture anticipated future growth in production in a region in which
anticipated production growth does not materialize. As a result, there is the risk that new facilities may not be able to attract
enough natural gas to achieve our expected investment return, which could adversely affect our financial position or results of
operations and our ability to make distributions.

If we are unable to obtain new rights-of-way or the cost of renewing existing rights-of-way increases, then we may be
unable to fully execute our growth strategy and our cash flows could be reduced.

The construction of additions to our existing gathering assets may require us to obtain new rights-of-way before
constructing new pipelines. We may be unable to obtain rights-of-way to connect new natural gas supplies to our existing
gathering lines or capitalize on other attractive expansion opportunities. Additionally, it may become more expensive for us
to obtain new rights-of-way or to renew existing rights-of-way. If the cost of obtaining new rights-of-way or renewing
existing rights-of-way increases, then our cash flows could be reduced.

We are exposed to the credit risk of our natural gas midstream customers, and nonpayment or nonperformance by our
customers would reduce our cash flows.

We are subject to risk of loss resulting from nonpayment or nonperformance by our natural gas midstream customers.
We depend on a limited number of customers for a significant portion of our natural gas midstream revenues. In 2007, three
of our natural gas midstream customers accounted for 53% of our natural gas midstream revenues and 42% of our total
consolidated revenues. Any nonpayment or nonperformance by our natural gas midstream customers would reduce our cash
flows.

Any reduction in the capacity of, or the allocations to, us in interconnecting third-party pipelines could cause a reduction
of volumes processed, which could adversely affect our revenues and cash flows.

We are dependent upon connections to third-party pipelines to receive and deliver residue gas and NGLs. Any reduction
of capacities of these interconnecting pipelines due to testing, line repair, reduced operating pressures or other causes could
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result in reduced volumes gathered and processed in our natural gas midstream facilities. Similarly, if additional shippers
begin transporting volumes of residue gas and NGLs on interconnecting pipelines, our allocations in these pipelines could be
reduced. Any reduction in volumes gathered and processed in our facilities could adversely affect our revenues and cash
flows.

Natural gas derivative transactions may limit our potential gains and involve other risks.

In order to manage our exposure to price risks in the marketing of our natural gas and NGLs, we periodically enter into
natural gas and NGL price hedging arrangements with respect to a portion of our expected production. Our hedges are
limited in duration, usually for periods of two years or less. However, in connection with acquisitions, sometimes our hedges
are for longer periods. These hedging transactions may limit our potential gains if natural gas or NGL prices were to rise
over the price established by the hedging arrangements. [n trying to maintain an appropriate balance, we may end up hedging
too much or too little, depending upon how natural gas or NGL prices fluctuate in the future.

In addition, derivative transactions may expose us to the risk of financial loss in certain circumstances, including
instances in which:

« our production is less than expected;

« there is a widening of price basis differentials between delivery points for our production and the delivery point
assumed in the hedge arrangement;

« the counterparties to our futures contracts fail to perform under the contracts; or

+ asudden, unexpected event materially impacts natural gas or NGL prices.

In addition, derivative instruments involve basis risk. Basis risk in a derivative contract occurs when the index upon
which the contract is based is more or less variable than the index upon which the hedged asset is based, thereby making the
hedge less effective. For example, a NYMEX index used for hedging certain volumes of production may have more or less
variability than the regional price index used for the sale of that production,

Our natural gas midstream business involves many hazards and operational risks, some of which may not be fully covered
by insurance.

Our natural gas midstream operations are subject to the many hazards inherent in the gathering, compression, treating,
processing and transportation of natural gas and NGLs, including:

+ damage to pipelines, related equipment and surrounding properties caused by hurricanes, tornadoes, floods, fires and
other natural disasters and acts of terrorism;

« 1nadvertent damage from construction and farm equipment;
+ leaks of natural gas, NGLs and other hydrocarbons; and

« fires and explosions.

These risks could result in substantial losses due to personal injury or loss of life, severe damage to and destruction of
property and equipment and pollution or other environmental damage and may result in curtailment or suspension of our
related operations. Our natural gas midstream operations are concentrated in Texas and Oklahoma, and a natura! disaster or
other hazard affecting these areas could have a material adverse effect on our operations. We are not fully insured against all
risks incident to our natural gas midstream business. We do not have property insurance on all of our underground pipeline
systems that would cover damage to the pipelines. We are not insured against all environmental accidents that might occur,
other than those considered to be sudden and accidental. If a significant accident or event occurs that is not fully insured, it
could adversely affect our operations and financial condition.

Federal, state or local regulatory measures could adversely affect our natural gas midstream business.
We own and operate an | l-mile interstate natural gas pipeline that, pursuant to the NGA, is subject to the jurisdiction of
the FERC. The FERC has granted us waivers of various requirements otherwise applicable to conventional FERC-

Jjurisdictional pipelines, including the obligation to file a tariff governing rates, terms and conditions of open access .
transportation service. The FERC has determined that we will have to comply with the fiting requirements if the natural gas ;
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company ever desires to apply for blanket transportation authority to transport third-party gas on the 11-mile pipeline. The
FERC may revoke these waivers at any time.

Our natural gas gathering facilities generally are exempt from the FERC’s jurisdiction under the NGA, but the FERC
regulation nevertheless could change and significantly affect our gathering business and the market for our services. Fora
more detailed discussion of how regulatory measures affect our natural gas gathering systems, see [tem 1,
“Business—Government Regulation and Environmental Matters—Natural Gas Midstream Segment.”

Failure to comply with applicable federal and state laws and regulations can result in the imposition of administrative,
civil and criminal remedies.

Our natural gas midstream business is subject to extensive environmental regulation.

Many of the operations and activities of our gathering systems, plants and other facilities are subject to significant
federal, state and local environmentat laws and regulations. These include, for example, laws and regulations that impose
obligations related to air emissions and discharge of wastes from our facilities and the cleanup of hazardous substances that
may have been released at properties currently or previously owned or operated by us or the prior owners of our natural gas
midstream business or locations to which we or they have sent wastes for disposal. These laws and regulations can restrict or
impact our business activities in many ways, including restricting the manner in which we dispose of substances, requiring
pre-approval for the construction or modification of certain projects or facilities expected to produce air emissions, requiring
remedial action to remove or mitigate contamination, and requiring capital expenditures to comply with control requirements.
Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may trigger a variety of administrative, civil and criminal enforcement
measures, including the assessment of monetary penalties, the imposition of remedial requirements and the issuance of orders
enjoining future operations. Certain environmental statutes impose strict, joint and several liability for costs required to clean
up and restore sites where substances and wastes have been disposed or otherwise released. Moreover, it is not uncommon
for neighboring landowners and other third parties to file claims for personal injury and property damage allegedly caused by
the release of substances or wastes into the environment.

There is inherent risk of the incurrence of environmental costs and liabilities in our natural gas midstream business due
to our handling of natural gas and other petroleum products, air emissions related to our natural gas midstream operations,
historical industry operations, waste disposal practices and the use by the prior owners of our natural gas midstream business
of natural gas flow meters containing mercury. For example, an accidental release from one of our pipelines or processing
facilities could subject us to substantial liabilities arising from environmental cleanup, restoration costs and natural resource
damages, claims made by neighboring landowners and other third parties for personal injury and property damage, and fines
or penalties for related violations of environmental laws or regulations. Moreover, the possibility exists that stricter laws,
regulations or enforcement policies could significantly increase our compliance costs and the cost of any remediation that
may become necessary. We may incur material environmental costs and liabilities. Insurance may not provide sufficient
coverage in the event an environmental claim is made. See Item 1, “Business—Government Regulation and Environmental
Matters—Natural Gas Midstream Segment.”

Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest

Potential conflicts of interest may arise among our general partner, its affiliates and us. Qur general partner has limited
fiduciary duties to us and our unitholders, which may permit it to favor its own interests to the detriment of us and our
unitholders.

Penn Virginia and its affiliates, including PVG, own an approximately 42% limited partner interest in us and own and
control our general partner. Conflicts of interest may arise between our general partner and its affiliates (including Penn
Virginia and PVG), on the one hand, and us and our unitholders, on the other hand. As a result of these conflicts, our general
partner may favor its own interests and the interests of its affiliates over the interests of our unitholders. These conflicts
inciude, among others, the following situations:

+  Qur general partner is allowed to take into account the interests of parties other than us, such as Penn Virginia and
PVG, in resolving conflicts of interest, which has the effect of limiting its fiduciary duty to our unitholders.

«  Our general partner may limit its liability and reduce its fiduciary duties under our partnership agreement, while also
restricting the remedies available to our unitholders for actions that, without these limitations and reductions, might
constitute breaches of fiduciary duty. As a result of purchasing units, our unitholders consent to some actions and
conflicts of interest that might otherwise constitute a breach of fiduciary or other duties under applicable state law.
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¢ Qur general partner determines the amount and timing of asset purchases and sales, capital expenditures,
borrowings, issuances of additional partnership securities and reserves, each of which can affect the amount of cash
that is available to be distributed to our unitholders.

»  Qur general partner controls the enforcement of obligations owed to us by it and its affiliates.

»  Qur partnership agreement gives cur general partner broad discretion in establishing financial reserves for the proper
conduct of our business. These reserves also will affect the amount of cash available for distribution.

«  Qur general partner determines which costs incurred by it and its affiliates are reimbursable by us.

s Our partnership agreement does not restrict our general partner from causing us to pay it or its affiliates for any
services rendered on terms that are fair and reasonable to us or entering into additional contractual arrangements
with any of these entities on our behalf.

»  Our general partner decides whether to retain separate counsel, accountants or others to perform services for us.

The fiduciary duties of our general partner’s officers and directors may conflict with those of PVG's general partner, and
our partnership agreement limits the liability and reduces the fiduciary duties of our general partner to us.

Our general partner’s officers and directors have fiduciary duties to manage our business in a manner beneficial to us and
our unitholders and the owner of our general partner, PVG, However, three of our general partner’s eight directors and three
of its five officers are also directors or officers of PVG's general partner, which has fiduciary duties to manage the business
of PVG in a manner beneficial to PVG and its unitholders, including Penn Virginia. Consequently, these directors and
officers may encounter situations in which their fiduciary obligations to us on the one hand, and PVG, on the other hand, are
in conflict. The resolution of these conflicts may not always be in our best interest or that of our unitholders.

In addition, our partnership agreement limits the liability and reduces the fiduciary duties of our general partner to our
unitholders. Our partnership agreement also restricts the remedies available to unitholders for actions that might otherwise
constitute a breach of our general partner’s fiduciary duties owed to unitholders. By purchasing our units, you are treated as
having consented to various actions contemplated in the partnership agreement and conflicts of interest that might otherwise
constitute a breach of fiduciary or other duties under applicable state law.

We may face conflicts of interest in the allocation of administrative time among Penn Virginia's business, PVG'’s business
and our business.

Our general partner shares administrative personnel with Penn Virginia and PVG’s general partner to operate Penn
Virginia’s business, PVG’s business and our business. Our general partner’s officers, who are also the officers of PVG's
general partner and/or Penn Virginia, will have responsibility for overseeing the allocation of time spent by administrative
personnel on our behalf and on behalf of PVG and/or Penn Virginia. These officers face conflicts regarding these time
allocations that may adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. It is unlikely that these
allocations will be the result of arms-length negotiations among Penn Virginia, PVG’s general partner and our general
partner.

Our general partner has a call right that may require you to sell your common units at an undesirable time or price.

If at any time more than 80% of our outstanding units are owned by our general partner and its affiliates, our general
partner will have the right, which it may assign to any of its affiliates or to us, but not the obligation, to acquire all, but not
less than all, of the remaining units held by unaffiliated persons at a price equal to the greater of (x) the average of the daily
closing prices of the common units over the 20 trading days preceding the date three days before notice of exercise of the call
right is first mailed and (y) the highest price paid by our general partner or any of its affiliates for common units during the
90 day period preceding the date such notice is first mailed. As a result, you may be required to sell your common units at an
undesirable time or price and may not receive any return on your investment. You may also incur a tax liability upon a sale
of your common units. Affiliates of our general partner currently own approximately 43% of our outstanding common units.

Our general partner may mortgage, pledge, hypothecate or grant a security interest in all or substantially all of our assets
without prior approval of our unitholders.

Our general partner may mortgage, pledge, hypothecate or grant a security interest in all or substantially all of our assets
without prior approval of our unitholders. If our general partner at any time decided to incur debt and secures its obligations
or indebtedness by all or substantially all of our assets, and if our general partner is unable to satisfy such obligations or repay
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such indebtedness, the lenders could seek to foreclose on our assets. The lenders may also sell all or substantially all of our
assets under such foreclosure or other realization upon those encumbrances without prior approval of our unitholders, which
would adversely affect the price of our common units

Tax Risks to Our Common Unitholders

Our tax treatment depends on our status as a partnership for federal income tax purposes as well as our not being subject
to a material amount of entity-level taxation by individual states. If the IRS were to treat us as a corporation for federal
income tax purposes or we were fo become subject to additional amounts of entity-level taxation for state tax purposes,
then our cash available for distribution to you would be substantially reduced.

The anticipated after-tax economic benefit of an investment in our common units depends largely on our being treated as
a partnership for federal income tax purposes. We have not requested, and do not plan to request, a ruling from the Internal
Revenue Service, or IRS, on this or any other matter affecting us.

Despite the fact that we are a limited partnership under Delaware law, it is possible in certain circumstances for a
partnership such as ours to be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes. Although we do not believe based
upon our current operations that we are so treated, a change in our business (or a change in current law) could cause us to be
treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes or otherwise subject us to taxation as an entity.

If we were treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, we would pay federal income tax on our taxable
income at the corporate tax rate, which is currently a maximum of 35%, and would likely pay state income tax at varying
rates. Distributions to you would generally be taxed again as corporate distributions, and no income, gains, losses,
deductions or credits would flow through to you. Because a tax would be imposed upon us as a corporation, our cash
available for distribution to you would be substantially reduced. Thus, treatment of us as a corporation would result in a
material reduction in our anticipated cash flow and likely cause a substantial reduction in the value of our common units.
Moreover, treatment of us as a corporation would materially and adversely affect our ability to make payments on our debt.

Current law may change, causing us to be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes or otherwise
subjecting us to entity-level taxation. In addition, because of widespread state budget deficits and other reasons, several
states are evaluating ways to subject partnerships to entity-level taxation through the imposition of state income, franchise or
other forms of taxation. For example, we are subject to a new entity-level tax on the portion of our income that is generated
in Texas. Specifically, the Texas margin tax is imposed at a maximum effective rate of 0.7% of our federal gross income
apportioned to Texas. Imposition of such a tax on us by Texas, or any other state, will reduce the cash available for
distribution to our unitholders.

Our partnership agreement provides that if a law is enacted or existing law is modified or interpreted in a manner that
subjects us to taxation as a corporation or otherwise subjects us to entity-level taxation for federal, state or local income tax
purposes, then the minimum quarterly distribution amount and the target distribution amounts will be adjusted to reflect the
impact of that law on us.

The tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships or an investment in our common units could be subject to potential
legislative, judicial or administrative changes and differing interpretations, possibly on a retroactive basis.

The present federal income tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships, including us, or an investment in our common
units may be modified by administrative, legislative or judicial interpretation at any time. For example, members of
Congress are considering substantive changes to the existing federal income tax laws that affect certain publicly traded
partnerships. Any modification to the federal income tax laws and interpretations thereof may or may not be applied
retroactively. Although the currently proposed legislation would not appear to affect our tax treatment as a partnership, we
are unable to predict whether any of these changes, or other proposals, will ultimately be enacted. Any such changes could
negatively impact the value of an investment in our commeon units.

If the IRS contests the federal income tax positions that we take, it may adversely affect the market for our common unis,
and the costs of any contest will reduce cash available for distribution to our unitholders.

We have not requested a ruling from the IRS with respect to our treatment as a partnership for federal income tax
purposes or any other matter that affects us. The IRS may adopt positions that differ from the positions we take. It may be
necessary to resort to administrative or court proceedings to sustain some or all of the positions we take. A court may
disagree with some or all of the positions we take. Any contest with the IRS may materially and adversely impact the market
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for our common units and the price at which they trade. In addition, the costs of any contest between us and the IRS will
result in a reduction in cash available for distribution to our unitholders and thus will be borne indirectly by our unitholders.

You may be required to pay taxes on your share of our income even if you do not receive any cash distributions from us.

Because our unitholders are treated as partners to whom we allocate taxable income which could be different in amount
than the cash we distribute, you will be required to pay any federal income taxes and, in some cases, state and local income
taxes on your share of our taxable income, whether or not you receive cash distributions from us. You may not receive cash
distributions from us equal to your share of our taxable income or even equal to the tax liability that results from the taxation
of your share of our taxable income.

Tax gain or loss on disposition of our common units could be more or less than expected.

If you sell your common units, you will recognize a gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized and
the adjusted tax basis in those common units. Prior distributions to you in excess of the total net taxable income allocated to
you, which decreased your tax basis in your common units, will, in effect, become taxable income to you if the common units
are sold at a price greater than your tax basis in those common units, even if the price you receive is less than your original
cost. A substantial portion of the amount realized, whether or not representing gain, may be ordinary income to you, In
addition, if you sell your common units, you may incur a tax liability in excess of the amount of cash you receive from the
sale.

Tax-exempt entities and foreign persons face unique fax issues from owning common units that may result in adverse tax
consequences to them,

Investment in common units by tax-exempt entities, including employee benefit plans and individual retirement accounts
(known as IRAs), and non-U.S. persons raises issues unique to them. For example, a significant amount of our income
allocated to organizations exempt from federal income tax, including IRAs and other retirement plans, will be unrelated
business taxable income and will be taxable to such a unitholder. Distributions to non-U.S. persons will be reduced by
withholding taxes imposed at the highest effective applicable tax rate, and non-U.S. persons will be required to file United
States federal income tax returns and pay tax on their share of our taxable income. 1f you are a tax-exempt entity or a foreign
person, you should consult your tax advisor before investing in our common units.

We are registered as a tax shelter. This may increase the risk of an IRS audit of us or a unitholder.

We are registered with the IRS as a “tax shelter.” Qur tax shelter registration number is 01309000001. The IRS requires
that some types of entities, including some partnerships, register as “tax shelters” in response to the perception that they
claim tax benefits that the IRS may believe to be unwarranted. As a result, we may be audited by the IRS and tax
adjustments could be made. Any unitholder owning less than a 1% profits interest in us has very litnited rights to participate
in the income tax andit process. Further, any adjustments in our tax returns will lead to adjustments in our unitholders’ tax
returns and may lead to audits of unitholders’ tax returns and adjustments of items unrelated to us. You will bear the cost of
any expense incurred in connection with an examination of your personal tax return.

We treat each purchaser of our common units as having the same tax benefits without regard to the common units
purchased. The IRS may challenge this treatment, which could adversely affect the value of our common units.

Because we cannot match transferors and transferees of commeon units, we adopt depreciation and amortization positions
that may not conform with all aspects of existing Treasury Regulations. A successful IRS challenge to those positions could
adversely affect the amount of tax benefits available to our unitholders. It also could affect the timing of these tax benefits or
the amount of gain from your sale of common units and could have a negative impact on the value of our common units or
result in audits of and adjustments to our unitholders’ tax returns.

We prarate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction between transferors and transferees of our common units each
month based upon the ownership of our common units on the first day of each month, instead of on the basis of the date a
particular common unit is transferred. The IRS may challenge this treatment, which could change the allocation of items
of income, gain, loss and deduction among our unitholders.

We prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction between transferors and transferees of our common units each
month based upon the ownership of our common units on the first day of each month, instead of on the basis of the date a
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particular common unit is transferred. The use of this proration method may not be permitted under existing Treasury
Regulations. If the IRS were to challenge this method or new Treasury Regulations were issued, we may be required to
change the allocation of items of income, gain, loss and deduction among our unitholders.

A unitholder whose common units are loaned to a “short seller”’ to cover a short sale of common units may be considered
as having disposed of those common units. If so, such unitholder would no longer be treated for tax purposes as a partner
with respect to those common units during the period of the loan and may recognize gain or loss from the disposition.

Because a unitholder whose common units are loaned to a “short seller” to cover a short sale of units may be considered
as having disposed of the loaned common units, such unitholder may no longer be treated for tax purposes as a partner with
respect to those common units during the period of the loan to the short seller and the unitholder may recognize gain or loss
from such disposition. Moreover, during the period of the loan to the short seller, any of our income, gain, loss or deduction
with respect to those common units may not be reportable by the unitholder and any cash distributions received by the
unitholder as to those common units could be fully taxable as ordinary income. Unitholders desiring to assure their status as
partners and avoid the risk of gain recognition from a loan to a short seller are urged to modify any applicable brokerage
account agreements to prohibit their brokers from borrowing their common units.

We have adopted certain valuation methodologies that may result in a shift of income, gain, loss and deduction between
our general parter and our unitholders. The IRS may challenge this reatment, which could adversely affect the value of
OUr COMIMon units.

When we issue additional units or engage in certain other transactions, we determine the fair market value of our assets
and allocate any unrealized gain or loss attributable to our assets to the capital accounts of our unitholders and our general
partner. Although we may from time to time consult with professional appraisers regarding valuation matters, including the
valuation of our assets, we make many of the fair market value estimates of our assets ourself using a methodology based on
the market value of our common units as a means to measure the fair market value of our assets. Our methodology may be
viewed as understating the value of our assets. In that case, there may be a shift of income, gain, loss and deduction between
certain unitholders and our general partner, which may be unfavorable to such unitholders. Moreover, under our valuation
methods, subsequent purchasers of our common units may have a greater portion of their Internal Revenue Code Section
743(b) adjustment allocated to our tangible assets and a lesser portion allocated to our intangible assets. The IRS may
challenge our valuation methods, or our allocation of the Section 743(b) adjustment attributable to our tangible and intangible
assets, and allocations of income, gain, loss and deduction between our general partner and certain of our unitholders.

A successful IRS challenge to these methods or allocations could adversely affect the amount of taxable income or loss
being allocated to our unitholders. 1t also could affect the amount of gain from our unitholders’ sale of common units and
could have a negative impact on the value of the common units or result in audit adjustments to our unitholders’ tax returns
without the benefit of additional deductions.

The sale or exchange of 50% or more of our capital and profits interests during any twelve-month period will result in the
technical termination of our partnership for federal income tax purposes.

We will be considered to have technically terminated for federal income tax purposes if there is a sale or exchange of
50% or more of the total interests in our capital and profits within a twelve-month period. A sale or exchange would occur,
for example, if we sold our business or merged with another company, or if any of our unitholders, including Penn Virginia,
PVG or any of their affiliates, sold or transferred their partner interests in us. While we would continue our existence as a
Delaware limited partnership, our technical termination would, among other things, result in the closing of our taxable year
for all unitholders, which would result in us filing two tax returns (and our unitholders could receive two Schedules K-1) for
one fiscal year and could result in a deferral of depreciation deductions allowable in computing our taxable income. In the
case of a unitholder reporting on a taxable year other than a fiscal year ending December 31, the closing of our taxable year
may also result in more than twelve months of our taxable income or loss being includable in his taxable income for the year
of termination. A technical termination would not effect our classification as a partnership for federal income tax purposes,
but instead, we would be treated as a new partnership for tax purposes. If treated as a new partnership, we must make new
tax elections and could be subject to penalties if we are unable to determine that a technical termination occurred.

You will likely be subject to state and local taxes and return filing requirements in states where you do not live as a result
of investing in our common units.

In addition to federal income taxes, you will likely be subject to other taxes, including state and local taxes,
unincorporated business taxes and estate, inheritance or intangible taxes that are imposed by the various jurisdictions in
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which we do business or own property now or in the future, even if you do not reside in any of those jurisdictions. You will
likely be required to file state and local income tax returns and pay state and local income taxes in some or all of these
jurisdictions. Further, you may be subject to penalties for failure to comply with those requirements. It is your responsibility
to file all United States federal, state and local tax returns that may be required of you.

Item 1B Unresolved Staff Comments

We received no written comments from the SEC staff regarding our periodic or current reports under the Exchange Act
within 180 days before the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.

Item2  Properties
Title to Properties

The following map shows the general locations of our coal reserves and related infrastructure investments and our
natural gas gathering and processing systems as of December 31, 2007;
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We believe that we have satisfactory title to all of our properties and the associated coal reserves in accordance with
standards generally accepted in the coal and natural resource management and natural gas midstream industries.

Facilities

Our general partner provides all of our office space, except for a field office that we own near Charleston, West Virginia.
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Coal Reserves and Production

As of December 31, 2007, we owned or controlled approximately 818 million tons of proven and probable coal reserves
located on approximately 397,000 acres (including fee and leased acreage) in 1llinois, Kentucky, New Mexico, Virginia and
West Virginia. Our coal reserves are in various surface and underground mine seams located on the following properties:

+  Central Appalachia Basin: properties located in eastern Kentucky, southwestern Virginia and southern West
Virginia;

»  Northern Appalachia Basin: properties located in northern West Virginia;

+ Illinois Basin: properties located in southern Illinois and western Kentucky; and

e San Juan Basin: properties located in the four comers area of New Mexico.

Coal reserves are coal tons that can be economically extracted or produced at the time of determination considering
legal, economic and technical limitations. All of the estimates of our coal reserves are classified as proven and probable
reserves. Proven and probable reserves are defined as follows:

Proven Reserves. Proven reserves are reserves for which: (i) quantity is computed from dimensions revealed in
outcrops, trenches, workings or drill holes; (ii) grade and/or quality are computed from the results of detailed sampling; and
(iii) the sites for inspection, sampling and measurement are spaced so closely, and the geologic character is so well defined,
that the size, shape, depth and mineral content of reserves are well-established.

Probable Reserves. Probable reserves are reserves for which quantity and grade and/or quality are computed from
information similar to that used for proven reserves, but the sites for inspection, sampling and measurement are more widely
spaced or are otherwise less adequately spaced. The degree of assurance, although lower than that for proven reserves, is
high enough to assume continuity between points of observation.

In areas where geologic conditions indicate potential inconsistencies related to coal reserves, we perform additional
exploration to ensure the continuity and mineability of the coal reserves. Consequently, sampling in those areas involves drill
holes or channel samples that are spaced closer together than those distances cited above.

Coal reserve estimates are adjusted annually for production, unmineable areas, acquisitions and sales of coal in place.
The majority of our coal reserves are high in energy content, low in sulfur and suitable for either the steam or metallurgical
market.

The amount of coal that a lessee can profitably mine at any given time is subject to several factors and may be
substantially different from “proven and probable reserves.” Included among the factors that influence profitability are the
existing market price, coal quality and operating costs,

Our lessees mine coal using both underground and surface methods, As of December 31, 2007, our lessees operated 27
surface mines and 33 underground mines. Approximately 53% of the coal produced from our properties in 2007 came from
underground mines and 47% came from surface mines. Most of our lessees use the continuous mining method in all of their
underground mines located on our properties. In continuous mining, main airways and transportation entries are developed
and remote-controlled continuous miners extract coal from “rooms,” leaving “pillars” to support the roof. Shuttle cars
transport coal to a conveyor belt for transportation to the surface. In several underground mines, our lessees use two
continuous miners running at the same time, also known as a supersection, to improve productivity and reduce unit costs.

Two of our lessees use the longwall mining method to mine underground reserves. Longwall mining uses hydraulic
jacks or shields, varying from four feet to twelve feet in height, to support the roof of the mine while a mobile cutting shearer
advances through the coal. Chain conveyors then move the coal to a standard deep mine conveyor belt system for delivery to
the surface. Continuous mining is used to develop access to long rectangular panels of coal that are mined with longwall
equipment, allowing controlled caving behind the advancing machinery. Longwall mining is typically highly productive
when used for large blocks of medium to thick coal seams.

Surface mining methods used by our lessees include auger and highwall mining to enhance production, improve reserve
recovery and reduce unit costs. On our San Juan Basin property, a combination of the dragline and truck-and-shovel surface
mining methods is used to mine the coal. Dragline and truck-and-shovel mining uses large capacity machines to remove
overburden to expose the coal seams. Wheel loaders then load the coal in haul trucks for transportation to a loading facility.
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Our lessees’ customers are primarily electric utilities, also referred to as “steam” markets, Coal produced from our
properties is transported by rail, barge and truck, or a combination of these means of transportation. Coal from the Virginia
portion of the Wise property and the Buchanan property is primarily shipped to electric utilities in the Southeast by the
Norfolk Southern railroad. Coal from the Kentucky portion of the Wise property is primarily shipped to electric utilities in
the Southeast by the CSX railroad. Coal from the Coal River and Spruce Laurel properties is shipped to steam and
metallurgical customers by the CSX railroad, by barge along the Kanawha River and by truck or by a combination thereof.
Coal from the Northern Appalachia properties is shipped by barge on the Monongahela River, by truck and by the CSX and
Norfolk Southemn railroads. Coal from the Illinois Basin properties is shipped by barge on the Green River and by truck.
Coal from the San Juan Basin property is shipped to steam markets in New Mexico and Arizona by the Burlington Northern
Santa Fe railroad. All of our properties contain and have access to numerous roads and state or interstate highways.

The following table shows our most important coal producing seams by property:

Producing Seam Height Range
Area Property State Mine Types Name (ft.)

Central Appalachia .................. Wise Virginia, Kentucky  Surface, Underground  Parsons 1.00 - 6.00
Phillips 1.50 - 6.00

Low Splint 1.00 - 5.50

Taggart/Marker 1.50 - 9.00

U. Wilson 1.50 - 5.50

Kelly/lmbeden 1.09 - 7.50

Buchanan Virginia Surface, Underground  Hagy 2.50-3.50

Splashdam 2.50-4.00

Wayland Kentucky Underground U. Elkhorn No. 2 2.33-4.00

Coal River, Fields Creek ~ West Virginia Surface, Underground  Stockton 4.00-12.00

Coalburg 1.00-11.00

Winifrede 1.00 - 7.00

Chilton 1.00 - 4.00

Cedar Grove [.00 - 5.50

No. 2 Gas 1.50-8.00

Toney Fork West Virginia Surface Coalburg 5.00 -16.00

Spruce Laurel West Virginia Underground Coalburg 3.00-6.00

Winifrede 2.50 - 4.00

Chilton 2.50 - 4.00

Alma 2.50-7.00

Northern Appalachia ............... Federal West Virginia Underground Pittsburgh 6.50 -9.50
Upshur West Virginia Surface, Underground  Redstone 3.00-6.50

Pintsburgh 200-9.00

San Juan Basin.........coeceiiniannns Lee Ranch New Mexico Surface Cleary Group Seams 8.00 -16.00
llinois Basin ....oceeeiariienciannnnens Green River Kentucky Surface, Underground KY No.9 3.00-5.00
Allied Kentucky Underground KY No.9 3.00-5.00

Knight Hawk Illinois Underground Herrin No. 6 5.00—8.00

The following tables set forth production data and reserve information with respect to each of our properties:

Production for the Year Ended December 31,

Property 2007 2006 2005
{tons in millions)

Central Appalachia ..........ccccoveein 18.8 20.2 19.0

Northern Appalachia..................., 42 5.0 5.0

Iinois Basin.......cccceveevecivcnrennens 38 2.5 1.4

San Juan Basin........c.ccccecoevveeeene 5.7 5.1 4.8

Totalceceee e, 32.5 32.8 30.2

Proven and Probable Reserves as of December 31, 2007

Property Underground Surface Total Steam Metallurgical Total
(tons in millions)
Central Appalachia....................... 413.8 155.5 569.3 481.1 88.2 569.3
Northern Appalachia .................... 29.6 0.1 29.7 29.7 — 297
linois Basin..........ccccoeeeeeniienreens 156.6 11.9 168.5 168.5 — 168.5
San Juan Basin..........coeceeieeeniennne — 50.9 50.9 50.9 — 50.9
07| U 600.0 218.4 818.4 7302 88.2 818.4
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Of the approximately 818 million tons of proven and probable coal reserves to which we had rights as of December 31,
2007, we owned the mineral interests and the related surface rights to 448 million tons, or 55%, and we owned only the
mineral interests to 196 million tons, or 24%. We leased the mineral rights to the remaining 174 million tons, or 21%, from
unaffiliated third parties and, in turn, subleased these reserves to our lessees. For the reserves we lease from third parties, we
pay royalties to the owner based on the amount of coal produced from the leased reserves. Additionally, in some instances,
we purchase surface rights or otherwise compensate surface right owners for mining activities on their properties. in 2007,
our aggregate expenses to third-party surface and mineral owners were $5.5 million.

The following table sets forth the coal reserves we own and lease with respect to each of our coal properties as of
December 31, 2007:

Total

Property Owned Leased Controlled

(tons in millions)

Central Appalachia ............ccccccccce. 428.1 141.2 569.3
Northern Appalachia...........c..on.e.e. 29.7 — 29.7
[linois Basin..........ccoceceineninnnennn, 139.5 29.0 168.5
San Juan Basin..........cccceceneenenenenne, 41.0 39 50.9
571 DO 644.3 174.1 8184

The following table sets forth our coal reserve activity for each of our coal properties for the years ended December
2007, 2006 and 2005:

2007 2006 2005

(tons in millions)
Reserves—beginning of year........ccveene. 765.4 689.1 557.3
Purchase of coal reserves.........ccoovvenn. 60.0 96.2 162.1
Tons mined by lessees ... (32.5) (32.8) (30.2)
Revisions of estimates and other ........... 25.5 12,9 (0.1)
Reserves—end of year ........ocecvceecinisininnns 818.4 765.4 689.1

Our coal reserve estimates are prepared from geological data assembled and analyzed by our general partner’s or its
affiliates’ geologists and engineers. These estimates are compiled using geological data taken from thousands of drill holes,
geophysical logs, adjacent mine workings, outcrop prospect openings and other sources. These estimates also take into
account legal, qualitative, technical and economic limitations that may keep coal from being mined. Coal reserve estimates
will change from time to time due to mining activities, analysis of new engineering and geological data, acquisition or
divestment of reserve holdings, modification of mining plans or mining methods and other factors.

We classify low sulfur coal as coal with a sulfur content of less than 1.0%, medium sulfur coal as coal with a sulfur
content between 1.0% and 1.5% and high sulfur coal as coal with a sulfur content of greater than 1.5%. Compliance coal is
that portion of low sulfur coal that meets compliance standards for the CAA. As of December 31, 2007, approximately 26%
of our reserves met compliance standards for the CAA and 39% were low sulfur. The following table sets forth our estimate
of the sulfur content and the typical clean coal quality of our recoverable coal reserves at December 31, 2007:

Sulfur Content Typical Clean Coal Quality
Reserves as of December 31, 2007 Heat Content
BTU
Compliance Low Medium High Sulfur per Sulfur Ash
Property (1} Sulfur (2) Sulfur Sulfur  Unclassified Total Pound (3) (%) (%)
(tons in millions)
Central Appalachia............ 213.7 288.8 156.8 30.2 93.5 569.3 14,044 1.03 6.46
Northern Appalachia........... — — — 29.7 — 29.7 12,900 2.58 8.80
Llinois Basin......c.ccoccovnn — — — 168.5 — 168.5 11,034 2.39 8.32
Sant Juan Basin...... — 311 15.2 4.6 — 50.9 9,200 0.89 17.80
Total ..o 213.7 319.9 172.0 233.0 93.5 818.4

(1) Compliance coal is low sulfur coal which, when burned, emits less than 1.2 pounds of sulfur dioxide per million BTU.
Compliance coal meets the sulfur dioxide emission standards imposed by Phase II of the CAA without blending in other
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coals or using sulfur dioxide reduction technologies. Compliance coal is a subset of low sulfur coal and is, therefore,
also reported within the amounts for low sulfur coal.

(2) Includes compliance coal.

(3) As-received BTU per pound includes the weight of moisture in the coal on an as sold basis.

The following table shows the proven and probable coal reserves we lease to mine operators by property:

Proven and Probable Reserves as of December 31, 2007

Total Leased to Percentage
Property Controlled Operators Leased
{tons in millions)

Central Appalachia............cccee.. 569.3 491.8 86%
Northern Appalachia................... 29.7 29.3 99%
[1linois Basin....ccccccoecvinrnninnnnnene 168.5 111.8 66%
San Juan Basin........cccooeveeeneenen, 50.9 50.9 100%

Total...cooereeceeeean 818.4 683.8 84%

Other Natural Resource Management Assets
Coal Preparation and Loading Facilities

We generate coal services revenues from fees we charge to our lessees for the use of our coal preparation and loading
facilities, which are located in Virginia, West Virginia and Kentucky. The facilities provide efficient methods to enhance
lessee production levels and exploit our reserves.

Timber and Oil and Gas Royalty Interests

We own approximately 220,000 acres of forestland in Kentucky, Virginia and West Virginia. Approximately 28% of
our forestland is located on the 62,000 acres in West Virginia that we acquired in September 2007, See Item 7,
*“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Acquisitions and Investments,”
for a discussion of our forestland acquisition. The balance of our forestland is located on properties that also contain our coal
reserves.

We own royalty interests in approximately 11.2 Befe of proved oil and gas reserves located on approximately 165,000
acres in Kentucky, Virginia and West Virginia. Approximately 40% of our otl and gas royalty interests are associated with
the leases of property in eastern Kentucky and southwestern Virginia that we acquired in October 2007. See Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Acquisitions and Investments,”
for a discussion of our oil and gas royalty interest acquisition.

Natural Gas Midstream Systems

Our natural gas midstream operations currently include three natural gas gathering and processing systems and a stand-
alone natural gas gathering system, including: (i) the Beaver/Perryton gathering and processing facilities in the
Texas/Oklahoma panhandle area, (ii) the Crescent gathering and processing facilities in central Qklahoma, (iii) the Hamlin
gathering and processing facilities in west-central Texas and (iv) the Arkoma gathering system in eastern Oklahoma. These
systems include approximately 3,682 miles of natural gas gathering pipelines and three natural gas processing facilities,
which have 160 MMcfd of total capacity. QOur natural gas midstream business derives revenues primarily from gas
processing contracts with natural gas producers and from fees charged for gathering natural gas volumes and providing other
related services. We own, lease or have rights-of-way to the properties where the majority of our natural gas midstream
facilities are located.

The following table sets forth information regarding our natural gas midstream assets:
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Year Ended December 31, 2007

Approximate Current Average Utilization of
Approximate Number of Processing System Processing ‘
Length Wells Capacity Throughput Capacity
Asset Type (Miles) Connected (MMcfd) (MMefd) (%)
Gathering pipelines and !
Beaver/Perryton System............ processing facility 1,421 1,044 100 126 (1} 100% ‘
Gathering pipelines and
Crescent System.........ccocoee........  processing facility 1,680 865 40 20 50%
Gathering pipelines and
Hamlin System..............coc........  processing facility 503 220 20 7 37%
Arkoma System ... Gathering pipelines 78 79 — 13(2)
3,682 2,208 160 166

(1) Includes gas processed at other systems connected to the Beaver/Perryton System via the pipeline acquired in June 2006. |
(2} Gathering-only volumes.

Beaver/Perryton System

General. The Beaver/Perryton System is a natural gas gathering system stretching over ten counties in the Anadarko
Basin of the panhandle of Texas and Oklahoma. The system consists of approximately 1,421 miles of natural gas gathering
pipelines, ranging in size from two to 16 inches in diameter, and the Beaver natural gas processing plant. Included in the
system is an 11-mile, 10-inch diameter, FERC-jurisdictional residue line.

The Beaver/Perryton System is comprised of a number of major gathering systems and sixteen related compressor
stations that gather natural gas, directly or indirectly, to the Beaver plant in Beaver County, Oklahoma. These include the
Beaver, Perryton, Spearman, Wolf Creek/Kiowa Creek and Ellis systems. These gathering systems are located in Beaver,
Ellis and Harper Counties in Oklahoma and Hansford, Hutchinson, Lipscomb, Ochiltree and Roberts Counties in Texas.

The Beaver natural gas processing plant has 100 MMcfd of inlet gas capacity. The plant is capable of operating in high '
ethane recovery mode or in ethane rejection mode and has instrumentation allowing for unattended operation 16 hours per
day.

We expect to place a new Spearman natural gas processing plant in service by April 2008. The Spearman natural gas
processing plant will process gas gathered on the Spearman system. The new Spearman plant will create space in the Beaver
natural gas processing plant for the gas that is currently bypassing the Beaver plant. We plan to expand the Spearman
gathering system to connect it to the Perryton and Wolf Creek/Kiowa Creek gathering systems. This expansion will provide
flexibility and allow for maximum utilization of both the Beaver and Spearman natural gas processing plants.

The Spearman natural gas processing plant will have 60 MMcfd of inlet capacity. The plant will be capable of operating
in high ethane recovery mode or in ethane rejection mode and will have instrumentation allowing for unattended operation 16
hours per day. In conjunction with the construction of the Spearman plant, three new gas compressor stations have been
constructed on the Spearman gathering system. These compressor stations will allow for more efficient operation of the
Spearman system and provide lower wellhead pressures.

Natural Gas Supply. The supply in the Beaver/Perryton System comes from approximately 171 producers pursuant to
333 contracts. The average gas quality on the Beaver/Perryton System for 2007 was 3.6 gallons of NGLs per delivered Mcf.

Markets for Sale of Natural Gas and NGLs. The residue gas from the Beaver plant can be delivered into the Northern
Natural Gas, Southern Star Central Gas or ANR Pipeline Company pipelines for sale or transportation to market. The NGLs
produced at the Beaver plant are delivered into ONEOK Hydrocarbon's pipeline system for transportation to and
fractionation at ONEOK'’s Conway fractionator.

The residue gas from the Spearman plant will be delivered into Northern Natural Gas pipelines for sale or transportation
to market. The NGLs produced at the Spearman plant will be delivered into MAPCO’s (Mid-America Pipeline Company)
pipeline system. MAPCQ’s pipeline system has the flexibility of delivering the NGLs to either Mont Belvieu or Conway for
fractionation.
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Crescent System

General. The Crescent System is a natural gas gathering system stretching over seven counties within central
Oklahoma’s Sooner Trend. The system consists of approximately 1,680 miles of natural gas gathering pipelines, ranging in
size from two to 10 inches in diameter, and the Crescent gas processing plant located in Logan County, Oklahoma. Fourteen
compressor stations are operating across the Crescent System.

The Crescent plant is a NGL recovery plant with current capacity of approximately 40 MMcfd. The Crescent facility
also includes a gas engine-driven generator which is routinely operated, making the plant self-sufficient with respect to
electric power. The cost of fuel (residue gas) for the generator is borne by the producers under the terms of their respective
gas contracts.

Natural Gas Supply. The gas supply on the Crescent System is primarily gas associated with the production of oil or
“casinghead gas” from the mature Sooner Trend. Wells in this region producing casinghead gas are generally characterized
as low volume, long-lived producers of gas with large quantities of NGLs. The supply in the Crescent System comes from
approximately 239 producers pursuant to 409 contracts. The average gas quality on the Crescent System for 2007 was 5.5
gallons of NGLs per delivered Mcf. -

Markets for Sale of Natural Gas and NGLs. The Crescent plant’s connection to the Enogex and ONEOK Gas
Transportation pipelines for residue gas and the ONEOK Hydrocarbon pipeline for NGLs give the Crescent System access to
a variety of market outlets.

Hamlin System

General. The Hamlin System is a natural gas gathering system stretching over eight counties in West Central Texas.
The system consists of approximately 503 miles of natural gas gathering pipelines, ranging in size from two to 12 inches in
diameter and with current capacity of approximately 20 MMcfd, and the Hamlin natural gas processing plant located in
Fisher County, Texas. Eight compressor stations are operating across the system,

Natural Gas Supply. The gas on the Hamlin System is primarily gas associated with the production of oil or *casinghead
gas.” The supply on the Hamlin System comes from approximately 109 producers pursuant to 138 contracts. The average
gas quality on the Hamlin System for 2007 was 8.9 gallons of NGLs per delivered Mcf.

Markets for Sale of Natural Gas and NGLs. The Hamlin System delivers the residue gas from the Hamlin plant into the
Enbridge or Atmos pipelines. The NGLs produced at the Hamlin plant are delivered into TEPPCO’s pipeline systemt.

Arkoma System

General. The Arkoma System is a stand-alone gathering operation in southeastern QOklahoma’s Arkoma Basin and is
comprised of three separate gathering systems, two of which are 100% owned with the third system being 49% owned. We
operate and maintain all three systems. The Arkoma Systemn consists of a total of approximately 78 miles of natural gas
gathering pipelines, ranging in size from three to 12 inches in diameter. Three compressor stations are operating across the
Arkoma System.

Natural Gas Supply. The supply on the Arkoma System comes from approximately 18 producers pursuant to 32
contracts.

Markets for Sale of Natural Gas and NGLs. The Arkoma System lines deliver gas into the Ozark, Noram and NGPL
pipelines,

Crossroads System

General. We are currently constructing a new natural gas gathering system located in the southeast portion of Harrison
County, Texas (the Crossroads System). The Crossroads System will consist of approximately eight miles of natural gas
gathering pipelines, ranging in size from eight to twelve inches in diameter, and the Crossroads natural gas processing plant.
The Crossroads System will also include approximately 19 miles of six-inch NGL pipeline to transport the NGLs produced at
the Crossroads plant to Panola Pipeline. The Crossroads System is expected to begin operations by April 2008.
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The Crossroads natural gas processing plant will have 8¢ MMcfd of inlet capacity. The plant will be capable of
operating in high ethane recovery mode or in ethane rejection mode and will have instrumentation allowing for unattended
operation 16 hours per day.

Natural Gas Supply. The gas on the Crossroads System will originate from the Bethany Field from two producers
pursuant to two contracts. The average gas quality on the Crossroads System is expected to be 3.1 gallons of NGLs per
delivered Mcf.

Markets for Sale of Natural Gas and NGLs. The Crossroads System will deliver the residue gas from the Crossroads
plant into the CenterPoint Energy pipeline for sale or transportation to market. The NGLs produced at the Crossroads plant
will be delivered into Panola Pipeline for transportation to Mont Belvieu for fractionation.

Item3  Legal Proceedings

Although we may, from time to time, be involved in litigation and claims arising out of our operations in the normal
course of business, we are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. In addition, we are not awate of any
material legal or governmental proceedings against us, or contemplated to be brought against us, under the various
environmental protection statutes to which we are subject. See Item 1, “Business—Government Regulation and
Environmental Matters,” for a more detailed discussion of our material environmental obligations.

Itemd  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2007,

39




Part 11

Item S Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Unitholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information

Cur common units are traded on the NYSE under the symbo! “PVR.” The high and low sales prices {composite
transactions) for each fiscal quarter in 2007 and 2006 were as foltows:

Quarter Ended High Low

December 31, 2007 oot emeenens $29.54 $23.71
September 30, 2007 ... $32.90 $23.58
June 30, 2007 ..o $31.69 $26.69
March 31, 2007 c.oiuiieeeni e be v bne $28.89 $24.56
December 31,2006 .........cooiiiieeeceee e $27.10 $23.34
September 30, 2006 ........cccoooriieeee e $28.10 £23.01
June 30, 2006 ..ottt s $32.46 $22.90
March 31, 2006 ..........coereeeeeeerr et eraen et $31.03 $26.27

Equity Holders

As of February 22, 2008, there were 214 record holders and approximately 23,300 beneficial owners (held in street
name) of our common units.

Distributions

For the year ended December 31, 2007, we paid cash distributions of $1.66 per common and Class B unit. The quarterly
cash distributions paid in 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

Period Covered by Distribution Record Date Payment Date Amount Per Unit
Third quarter 2007......oveeveeceeeeerennn November 5, 2007 November 14, 2007 $0.4300
Second quarter 2007........cooocveeiiennene. August 6, 2007 August 14, 2007 $0.4200
First quarter 2007 ......cocovveivvvvcieinnnnn. May 4, 2007 May 15, 2007 $0.4100
Fourth quarter 2006...........c.ccoevnne.. February 5, 2007 February 14, 2007 $0.4000
Third quarter 2006...........covereeeeenens November 3, 2006 November 14, 2006 $0.4000
Second quarter 2006........oooeeeeeene, August 2, 2006 August 12, 2006 $0.3750
First quarter 2006 ..........cccocovniiiinnnncn, May 3, 2006 May 13, 2006 $0.3500
Fourth quarter 2005..........c.ccoooennn. February 4, 2006 February 14, 2006 $0.3500

If cash distributions per unit exceed $0.275 in any quarter, our general partner will receive a higher percentage of the
cash we distribute in excess of that amount in increasing percentages up to 50%. See Item 1, “Business—Partnership
Distributions—Incentive Distribution Rights.” On February 14, 2008, we paid a cash distribution with respect to the fourth
quarter of 2007 of $0.44 per common unit, exceeding the $0.275 threshold. For the remainder of 2008, we expect to pay
quarterly cash distributions of at least $0.44 per common unit, or $1.76 per common unit on an annualized basis.

There is no guarantee that we will pay quarterly cash distributions on our common units in any quarter, and we will be
prohibited from making any distributions to our unitholders if it would cause an event of default under our revolving credit
facility. See [tem 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity
and Capital Resources.”

Item 6 Selected Financial Data

The following selected historical financial information was derived from our audited consolidated financial statements as
of December 31, 2007, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003, and for each of the years then ended. The selected financial data should
be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes in Item 7, “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”
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Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 20058 (1) 2004 2003

(in thousands, except per unit data)

Revenues $ 549445 $ 517,891 $ 446348 3 75,630 $ 55,642
Expenses § 431,720 3 415,071 $ 368,258 3 35,111 3 29,082
Operating income $ 117,725 $ 102,820 $ 78,090 $ 40,519 $ 26,560
Net income $ 56,623 3 73,928 5 51,161 3 34,315 5 22,690
Net income per limited partner

unit, basic and diluted s 096 $ 1.56 3 1.22 ) 0.93 3 .62
Total assets $ 931,279 § 714,023 § 657879 5 284435 $ 259892
Long-termdebt § 399,153 $ 207214 § 246,846 § 112,926 $ 90,286
Cash flows provided by operating activities $ 127824 S 107,344 $ 93,172 3 54,782 $ 41,077
Distributions paid 3 89,649 s 66,954 S 51,949 $ 39,191 5 36,708
Distributions paid per unit 3 1.66 5 1.48 $ 1.24 3 1.06 § 1.03

(1) The 2005 column includes the results of operations of our natural gas midstream segment since March 3, 2005, the
closing date of the acquisition of Cantera.

Item7  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of Penn Virginia Resource
Partners, L.P. and its subsidiaries should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the
accompanying notes in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” Our discussion and analysis include the
following items:

¢  Overview of Business

»  Acquisitions and Investments

» Liquidity and Capital Resources

« Contractual Obligations

»  Oft-Balance Sheet Arrangements

e Results of Operations

»  Summary of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

»  Environmental Matters

s Recent Accounting Pronouncements

e  Forward-Looking Statements
Overview of Business

We are a publicly traded Delaware limited partnership formed by Penn Virginia in 2001 that is principally engaged in the
management of coal and natural resource properties and the gathering and processing of natural gas in the United States.
Both in our current limited partnership form and in our previous corporate form, we have managed coal properties since
1882. We currently conduct operations in two business segments: (1) coal and natural resource management and (2) natural
gas midstream. Our operating income was $117.7 million in 2007, compared to $102.8 million in 2006 and $78.1 million in
2005. In 2007, our coal and natural resource management segment contributed $68.8 million, or 58%, to operating income,
and our natural gas midstream segment contributed $48.9 million, or 42%, to operating income. The following table presents
a summary of certain financial information relating to our segments:
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Coal and Natural

Resource Natural Gas
Management Midstream Consolidated
(in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31,2007:

Revenues $ 111,639 $ 437,806 ) 549 445
Cost of midstream gas purchased - 343,293 343,293
Operating costs and expenses 20,138 26,777 46,915
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 22,690 18,822 41,512
Operating income $ 68,811 $ 48,914 3 117,725
For the Year Ended December 31, 2006:

Revenues $ 112,981 $ 404,910 $ 517,891
Cost of midstream gas purchased - 334,594 334,594
Operating costs and expenses 19,138 23,846 42,984
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 20,399 17,094 37,493
Operating income $ 73,444 5 29,376 $ 102,820
For the Year Ended December 31, 2005:

Revenues $ 95,755 $ 350,593 h) 446,348
Cost of midstream gas purchased - 303,912 303,912
Operating costs and expenses . 16,121 17,597 33,718
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 17,890 12,738 30,628
Operating income $ 61,744 3 16,346 $ 78,090

Coal and Natural Resource Management Segment

As of December 31, 2007, we owned or controlled approximately 818 million tons of proven and probable coal reserves
in Central and Northern Appalachia, the San Juan Basin and the Illinois Basin. As of December 31, 2007, approximately
89% of our proven and probable coal reserves were “steam” coal used primarily by electric generation utilities, and the
remaining 11% were metallurgical coal used primarily by steel manufacturers. We enter into long-term leases with
experienced, third-party mine operators, providing them the right to mine our coal reserves in exchange for royalty payments.
We actively work with our lessees to develop efficient methods to exploit our reserves and to maximize production from our
properties. We do not operate any mines. In 2007, our lessees produced 32.5 million tons of coal from our properties and
paid us coal royalties revenues of $94.1 million, for an average royalty per ton of $2.89. Approximately 81% of our coal
royalties revenues in 2007 and 84% of our coal royalties revenues in 2006 were derived from coal mined on our properties
under leases containing royalty rates based on the higher of a fixed base price or a percentage of the gross sales price. The
balance of our coal royalties revenues for the respective periods was derived from coal mined on our properties under leases
containing fixed royalty rates that escalate annually. In 2007, five lessees accounted for 65% of our coal royalties revenues
and 11% of our total consolidated revenues,

Coal royalties are impacted by several factors that we generally cannot control. The number of tons mined annually is
determined by an operator’s mining efficiency, labor availability, geologic conditions, access to capital, ability to market coal
and ability to arrange reliable transportation to the end-user. New legislation or regulations have been or may be adopted
which may have a significant impact on the mining operations of our lessees or their customers’ ability to use coal and which
may require us, our lessees or our lessee’s customers to change operations significantly or incur substantial costs. Sece Item
LA, “Risk Factors.” To a lesser extent, coal prices also impact coal royalties revenues. Generally, as coal prices change, our
average royalty per ton also changes because the majority of our lessees pay royalties based on the gross sales prices of the
coal mined. Most of our coal is sold by our lessees under contracts with a duration of one year or more; therefore, changes to
our average royalty occur as our lessees’ contracts are renegotiated. Coal prices, especially in Central Appalachia where the
majority of our coal is produced, increased significantly from the beginning of 2005 through most of 2006. The price
increase during that period was primarily the result of increased electricity demand, rebuilding of inventories and decreasing
coal production in Central Appalachia. In the second half of 2006 and continuing into 2007, coal prices decreased from the
historically high levels experienced in the previous two and one half years, due to higher than normal coal inventories at
electric utilities and milder than normal winter weather. Coal prices increased significantly in the fourth quarter of 2007 after
remaining nearly stagnant since late 2006. The global markets for most types of coal remain strong. Continued demand from

42




emerging countries and the increased consumption domestically have created a strong global picture. U.S.-produced coal
enjoyed increased demand abroad during 2007 as dwindling supplies and the decline of the dollar made U.S.-exported coal
more attractive. Pricing appears strong heading into 2008 primarily due to increasing global demand and supply difficulties.

We also earn revenues from the provision of fee-based coal preparation and loading services, from the sale of standing
timber on our properties, from oil and gas royalty interests we own and from coal transportation, or wheelage, fees.

Our management continues to focus on acquisitions that increase and diversify our sources of cash flow. During 2007,
we acquired 60 million tons of coal reserves in two acquisitions for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $52
million. In addition, in 2007, we acquired approximately 62,000 acres of forestland in West Virginia for a purchase price of
approximately $93 million to expand our existing timber business. In 2007, we also acquired royalty interests in certain oil
and gas leases relating to properties located in Kentucky and Virginia for a purchase price of approximately $31 million to
expand our existing oil and gas royalty interest business. For a more detailed discussion of our acquisitions, see “—
Acquisitions and Investments.”

Natural Gas Midstream Segment

We own and operate natural gas midstream assets located in Oklahoma and the panhandle of Texas. These assets
include approximately 3,682 miles of natural gas gathering pipelines and three natural gas processing facilities having 160
MMecfd of total capacity. Our natural gas midstream business derives revenues primarily from gas processing contracts with
natural gas producers and from fees charged for gathering natural gas volumes and providing other related services. We also
own a natural gas marketing business, which aggregates third-party volumnes and sells those volumes into intrastate pipeline
systems and at market hubs accessed by various interstate pipelines. We acquired our first natural gas midstream assets
through the acquisition of Cantera in March 2005.

In 2007, system throughput volumes at our gas processing plants and gathering systems, including gathering-only
volumes, were 67.8 Bcf, or approximately 186 MMcfd. In 2007, three of our natural gas midstream customers accounted for
53% of our natural gas midstream revenues and 42% of our total consolidated revenues.

Revenues, profitability and the future rate of growth of our natural gas midstream segment are highly dependent on
market demand and prevailing NGL and natural gas prices. Historically, changes in the prices of most NGL products have
generally correlated with changes in the price of crude oil. NGL and natural gas prices have been subject to significant
volatility in recent years in response to changes in the supply and demand for NGL products and natural gas market
uncertainty.

We continually seek new supplies of natural gas to both offset the natural declines in production from the wells currently
connected to our systems and to increase system throughput volumes. New natural gas supplies are obtained for all of our
systems by contracting for production from new wells, connecting new wells drilled on dedicated acreage and contracting for
natura! gas that has been released from competitors’ systems. During 2007, we expended $38.7 million on expansion
projects to allow us to capitalize on such opportunities. The expansion projects include two natural gas processing facilities
with a combined 140 MMcfd of inlet gas capacity.

Acquisitions and Investments

Set forth below are brief descriptions of the significant acquisitions that we have made in the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005.

Coal and Natural Resource Management Segment
In October 2007, we purchased from Penn Virginia oil and gas royalty interests associated with leases of property in
eastern Kentucky and southwestern Virginia and with estimated proved reserves of 8.7 Befe at January 1, 2007. The

purchase price was $31.0 million in cash and was funded with long-term debt under our revolving credit facility.

In September 2007, we acquired fee ownership of approximately 62,000 acres of forestland in northern West Virginia.
The purchase price was $93.3 million in cash and was funded with long-term debt under our revolving credit facility.

In June 2007, we acquired a combination of fee ownership and lease rights to approximately 51 million tons of coal
reserves, along with a preparation plant and coal handling facilities. The property is located on approximately 17,000 acres
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in western Kentucky. The purchase price was $42.0 million in cash and was funded with long-term debt under our revolving
credit facility.

In May 2006, we acquired lease rights to approximately 69 million tons of coal reserves. The reserves are located on
approximately 20,000 acres in southern West Virginia, The purchase price was $65.0 million and was funded with long-term
debt under our revolving credit facility.

In July 2005, we acquired fee ownership of approximately 94 million tons of coal reserves. The reserves are located
along the Green River in the western Kentucky portion of the Illinois Basin, The purchase price was $62.4 million in cash
and the assumption of $3.3 million of deferred income and was funded with long-term debt under our revolving credit
facility.

Natural Gas Midstream Segment

We are currently constructing an 80 MMcfd gas processing plant and related pipelines (the Crossroads System) in east
Texas. The processing plant is expected to be placed in service by April 2008. The processing plant will provide fee-based
gas processing services to Penn Virginia's oil and gas business, as well as other producers. The plant and related facilities are
expected to cost approximately $22 million and are being funded with long-term debt under our revolving credit facility.

In June 2006, we completed the acquisition of approximately 115 miles of gathering pipelines and related compression
facilities in Texas and Oklahoma. These assets are contiguous to our Beaver/Perryton System. The purchase price was $14.7
million and was funded with cash. Subsequently, we borrowed $14.7 million under our revolving credit facility to replenish
the cash used for the acquisition.

In March 2005, we completed our acquisition of Cantera, a natural gas midstream gas gathering and processing company
with primary locations in the Mid-Continent area of Oklahoma and the panhandle of Texas. Cash paid in connection with the
acquisition was $199.2 million, net of cash received and including capitalized acquisition costs, which we funded with a $110
million term loan and with long-term debt under our revolving credit facility. We used the proceeds from our sale of
commeon units in a subsequent public offering in March 2005 to repay the term loan in full and to reduce outstanding
indebtedness under our revolving credit facility. See Note 3 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for pro forma
financial information.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We generally satisfy our working capital requirements and fund our capital expenditures and debt service obligations
from cash generated from our operations and borrowings under our revolving credit facility. We believe that the cash
generated from our operations and our borrowing capacity will be sufficient to meet our working capital requirements,
anticipated capital expenditures (other than major capital improvements or acquisitions), scheduled debt payments and
distribution payments. See Note 10 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a tabular presentation of
distribution thresholds. Our ability to satisfy our obligations and planned expenditures will depend upon our future operating
performance, which will be affected by, among other things, prevailing economic conditions in the coal industry and natural
gas midstream market, some of which are beyond our control.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flow statements for 2007 and 2006, consolidating our segments:
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Coal and Natural

Resource Natural Gas
For the Year Ended December 31, 2007 Management Midstream Consolidated
(in thousands)

Cash flows fromoperating activities:

Net income contribution $ 51,681 % 4,942 $ 56,623

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities (summarized) 22,238 51,206 73,444

Net change in operating assets and liabilities 3,964 (6,207) (2,243)
Net cash provided by operating activities 3 77,883 3 49,941 127,824
Net cash used in investing activities $ (177,101) $ (47,081) (224,182)
Net cash provided by financing activities 104,448

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5 8,090

Coal and Natural
Resource Natural Gas
For the Year Ended December 31, 2006 Management Mids iream Consolidated
(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net mcome contribution $ 55,015 $ 18,913 $ 73,928

Adjustments to recencile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities (surmmarized) 22478 10,878 33,356

Net change in operating assets and liabilities 1,450 (1,390) 60
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 78,543 $ 28,401 107,344
Net cash used in investing activities $ (92,692) 3 {36,984) {129,676)
Net cash provided by financing activities 10,579

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents $ 511,753!

Cash provided by operating activities increased by $20.5 million, or 20%, from $107.3 million in 2006 to $127.8 million
in 2007. The overall increase in cash provided by operating activities in 2007 compared to 2006 was primarily attributable to
the increase in our natural gas midstream segment’s operating income, partially offset by increased cash outflows for
derivative settlements. Cash provided by operating activities increased by $13.6 million, or 15%, from $93.7 million in 2005
to $107.3 million in 2006. The overall increase in cash provided by operating activities in 2006 compared to 2005 was
primarily attributable to a higher average coal royalty per ton and cash flows from our natural gas midstream business, which
was acquired in March 2003, partially offset by increased cash outflows for derivative settlements.

Capital Expenditures

In 2007, we made aggregate capital expenditures of $225.5 million primarily for coal reserve acquisitions, a forestland
acquisition, an oil and gas royalty interest acquisition and natural gas midstream gathering system expansion projects. In
2006, we made aggregate capital expenditures of $129.8 million primarily for coal reserve acquisitions, coal loadout facility
construction projects, a natural gas midstream acquisition and natural gas midstream gathering system expansion projects. In
2005, we made aggregate capital expenditures of $304.9 million primarily for the acquisition of our natural gas midstream
business and coal reserve acquisitions. Other investments in 2005 included a $4.1 million purchase of railcars that we
previously leased and $4.4 million of natural gas gathering system additions. Capital expenditures comprise the primary
portion of cash used in investing activities. The following table sets forth capital expenditures by segment made during the
vears ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
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Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(in thousands)
Coal and natural resource management
Acquisitions (1) $ 176918 $ 75,182 5 92,093
Expansion capital expenditures 85 15,103 5,657
Other property and equipment expenditures 84 100 351
Total 177,087 90,385 98,101
Natural gas midstream
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired - 14,626 199,223
Expansion capital expenditures 38,686 15,394 3,324
Other property and equipment expenditures 9,767 9,414 4,264
Total 48,453 39,434 206,811
Total capital expenditures $ 225,540 $ 129,819 $ 304,912

{1} Amount in 2007 includes an $11.5 million lease receivable associated with the acquisition of fee ownership and lease
rights to coal reserves in western Kentucky. Amount in 2007 also includes $31 million of royalty interests that we
purchased from Penn Virginia. Amount in 2006 excludes the acquisition of assets and liabilities other than property or
equipment of $1.2 million. Amount in 2005 excludes $10.4 million of equity issued and $0.7 million of labilities
assumed in connection with the acquisition of coal reserves in eastern Kentucky. Amount in 2005 also excludes $3.3
million of deferred income assumed in connection with the acquisition of coal reserves in western Kentucky,

We funded capital expenditures in 2007 with cash provided by operating activities and borrowings under our revolving
credit facility. We funded capital expenditures in 2006 with cash provided by operating activities, borrowings under our
revolving credit facility, proceeds from the sale of common and Class B units to PVG and a contribution from our general
partner to maintain its 2% general partner interest in us. We funded capital expenditures in 2005 with cash provided by
operating activities, borrowings under our revolving credit facility, proceeds from our secondary public offering of common
units and a contribution from our general partner to maintain its 2% general partner interest in us.

Distributions to partners increased to $89.6 million in 2007 from $67.0 million in 2006 and $51.9 million in 2005
because we increased the quarterly distribution per unit.

We had $193.5 of net borrowings in 2007, comprised of net borrowings of $204.5 million under our revolving credit
facility and net repayments of $11.0 million under our senior unsecured notes. This is compared to $37.1 million of net
repayments in 2006, comprised of net repayments of $28.8 million under our revolving credit facility and net repayments of
$8.3 million under our senior unsecured notes. Funds from the borrowings in 2007 and 2006 were primarily used for capital
expenditures,

Long-Term Debt

As of December 31, 2007, we had outstanding borrowings of $411.7 million, consisting of $347.7 million borrowed
under our revolving credit facility and $64.0 million of senior unsecured notes, or the Notes. The current portion of the Notes
as of December 31, 2007 was $12.6 million,

Revolving Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2007, we had $347.7 million outstanding under our unsecured $450
million revolving credit facility, or the Revolver, that matures in December 2011. The Revolver is available to us for general
purposes, including working capital, capital expenditures and acquisitions, and includes a $10 million sublimit for the
issuance of letters of credit. We had outstanding letters of credit of $1.6 million as of December 31, 2007, At the current
$450 million limit on the Revolver, and given the outstanding balance of $347.7 miltion, net of $1.6 million of letters of
credit, we could borrow up to $100.7 million. In 2007, we incurred commitment fees of $0.3 million on the unused portion
of the Revolver. The interest rate under the Revolver fluctuates based on the ratio of our total indebtedness-to-EBITDA.
Interest is payable at a base rate plus an applicable margin of up to 0.75% if we select the base rate borrowing option under
the Revolver or at a rate derived from the London Inter Bank Offering Rate, or the LIBOR, plus an applicable margin ranging
from 0.75% to 1.75% if we select the LIBOR-based borrowing option. The weighted average interest rate on borrowings
outstanding under the Revolver during 2007 was 6.2%.
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The financial covenants under the Revolver require us not to exceed specified debt-to-consolidated EBITDA and
consolidated EBITDA-to-interest expense ratios. The Revolver prohibits us from making distributions to our partners if any
potential default, or event of default, as defined in the Revolver, occurs or would result from the distributions. In addition,
the Revolver contains various covenants that limit, among other things, our ability to incur indebtedness, grant liens, make
certain loans, acquisitions and investments, make any material change to the nature of our business, acquire another company
or enter into a merger or sale of assets, including the sale or transfer of interests in our subsidiaries. As of December 31,
2007, we were in compliance with all of our covenants under the Revolver.

Senior Unsecured Notes. As of December 31, 2007, we owed $64.0 million under the Notes. The Notes bear interest at
a fixed rate of 6.02% and mature in March 2013, with semi-annual principal and interest payments. The Notes are equal in
right of payment with all of our other unsecured indebtedness, including the Revolver. The Notes require us to obtain an
annual confirmation of our credit rating, with a 1.00% increase in the interest rate payable on the Notes in the event our credit
rating falls below investment grade. In March 2007, our investment grade credit rating was confirmed by Dominion Bond
Rating Services. The Notes contain various covenants similar to those contained in the Revolver. As of December 31, 2007,
we were in compliance with all of our covenants under the Notes.

Interest Rate Swaps. We have entered into interest rate swap agreements, or the Revolver Swaps, to establish fixed rates
on a portion of the outstanding borrowings under the Revolver. Until March 2010, the notional amounts of the Revolver
Swaps total $160 million. From March 2010 to December 2011, the notional amounts of the Revolver Swaps total $100
million. Until March 2010, we will pay a weighted average fixed rate of 4.33% on the notional amount, and the
counterparties will pay a variable rate equal to the t